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INTRODUCTION 

Given the almost universal need for transportation, all 
people end up purchasing cars at several times in their lives.  
Most people’s lack of knowledge about cars coupled with this 
absolute need to purchase a car makes them prime targets for 
several types of predatory practices, especially when the sale is 
financed by the dealer or a related finance company.  

For car cases, a knowledge of what to look for in the 
transaction is important because in many cases the legally 
relevant problems will not be what the consumer complains about, 
now will they always be shown on the face of the documents in the 
consumer’s possession.    

To fully advise clients about their legal remedies requires 
understanding the whole process by which a car dealer sell and 
finance cars.  To understand the whole process first requires a 
thorough knowledge of your state’s motor vehicle titling 
procedures and statutes, several federal consumer protection 
statutes, and the relationships between car dealers and the 
finance companies that back them.  These relationships can vary 
from state to state depending on each state’s scheme for 
regulating financed sales. 

In addition to the basic regulation of car sales, when a car 
dealer decides to finance a car sale, the transaction is then 
subject to even more regulation as a credit transaction.  After 
deciding to become a banker, many car dealers also decide to be 
insurance salesman.  Consequently in the credit sale of a car, 
the federal laws that are usually involved are the Fair Credit 
Reporting Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Truth in 
Lending Act, the federal Odometer Act, the Magnuson-Moss Warranty 
Act, the Buyer’s Guide Regulation, and FTC Holder Rule.  Virginia 
specifically regulates the sale of cars, the sale of insurance, 
the way in which interest rates can be charged, and consumer 
sales. Finally, the general requirements of the UCC on sale of 
goods, remedies, and enforcing security interests can provide 
even more remedies. 

Consumers do need to protect themselves and can do so in 
three ways in any car sale. First, all consumers should leave 
themselves time to shop for a car and make it easy to walk away 
from a deal.  Second, all credit consumers should take a copy of 
the Truth in Lending Act disclosures and comparison shop the 
credit terms with at least one other lender before agreeing to 
any credit.  Third, consumers should demand to observe the dealer 
signing title to the car over to the consumer and ensure that the 
signed over title is delivered immediately to their state’s 
Department of Motor Vehicles or title agency.  If the consumer 
does not see the title signed over, the consumer does not know 
for sure the car dealer has properly sold it.  If the title is 
not delivered to the state, the consumer may be unable to prove 
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they bought the car.  
 

SOME SPECIFIC PRACTICES 
 

  The yo-yo: In the classic yo-yo sale, the consumer signs a 
credit contract, is given a temporary registration, temporary 
license plates, and properly thinks the transaction is complete. 
The consumer is only waiting for the permanent DMV documents and 
anticipates making the payments pursuant to the schedule on the 
credit contract.  The dealer does not notify the DMV about the 
sale and instead tells the consumer that a new credit contract on 
different terms must be signed.  Sometimes the consumer ends up 
with a different car, the same car on different terms, or no car 
at all.  Some important questions are what are the terms of the 
credit contract, do other documents contradict the credit 
contract, how did the dealer process the title to each car 
involved, and what was the consumer told about the sale.   

   For the yo-yo sale, you will want to know exactly how the 
dealer handled the title to the car.  Like most states, 
Virginia’s titling laws are strict and specific.  Under 46.2-628, 
629, and 631, the dealer is required to sign and deliver the old 
title to the consumer at the time of delivering the car.  The 
only way to sell a car is for the owner to sign the old title 
over to the buyer. Allstate Insurance Co. v. Atlanta Casualty 
Co., 260 Va. 148 (2000). These title statutes are strictly 
construed and dealers must comply with them.  Thomas v. Mullins, 
153 Va. 383 (1927); Rawls Auto Auction v. Dick Herriman Ford, 690 
F.2d 422, 427 (4th Cir. 1982).  These statutes are enacted for 
the protection of the public and their provisions are mandatory. 
Thomas v. Mullins, 153 Va. 383, 391 (Va. 1929).    

   The basic fraud in a yo-yo sale is making the consumer think 
the sale was a done deal, when in fact the dealer set it up so 
that the dealer could call it off, seize the car, and sell it to 
another purchaser. See Pescia v. Auburn Ford Lincoln, 68 F. 
Supp.2d 1269 (M.D. Ala. 1999)(upholding fraud claim for failure 
to inform consumer that dealer was treating the sale as 
contingent).  To make the consumer misunderstand the transaction 
the dealer will deceive the consumer into thinking it signed 
title over at the time of sale.  Many claims will flow from the 
dealer trying to claim that the credit contract prepared by it 
was cancelled when the dealer could not sell it to a third party. 
Unless the dealer used a properly conditional credit contract, 
and treats the title, insurance, and interest according to that 
condition, then the dealer is stuck accepting the stream of 
payments agreed to in the first credit contract. See Walker v. 
Walker Mobile Homes, 965 S.W.2d 271 (Mo. App. 1998). A violation 
of the title statutes also makes the contract unenforceable 
against the buyer.  See Eure v. Jefferson National Bank, 248 Va. 
245 (1994)(applying the common-law doctrine of unenforceability 
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when a seller violates a statute designed to protect the public). 
 A thorough discussion of this practice is found in section 5.4.5 
of the NCLC’s UDAP Manual, Fifth Edition, and its TILA Manual, 
Fourth Edition, section 4.4.1, and it is also discussed in the 
Autofraud Manual, 2002 Supplement at section 3.6.5.8. 

One federal opinion detailing this practice is found at Nigh 
v. Koons Buick Pontiac GMC, Inc., 319 F.3d 119 (4th Cir. 
2003)(currently on appeal to the U.S. Supreme Court on only the 
measure of TILA damages issue).  This opinion in conjunction with 
Rucker v. Sheehy Alexandria, Inc., 228 F. Supp.2d 7112 (E.D. Va. 
2002), will provide good insight into the yo-yo practice and what 
type of claims might be raised about it.  To see just hard the 
industry will fight its practices being challenged, see the 
reconsideration of the Rucker decision at Rucker v. Sheehy 
Alexandria, Inc., 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2237.  After the Rucker 
decision was reached, the Court modified it to increase the 
statutory damage award to twice the finance charge pursuant to 
the Nigh decision. See 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4294. 

One of the most recent opinions is Bragg v. Bill Heard, 374 
F.3d 106 (11th Cir. 2004).  The 11th Circuit found that in a yo-
yo sale, the credit contract was consummated for Truth in Lending 
Act purposes, even if it was a conditional credit contract.  For 
a good state law decision that explains the unlawful repossession 
aspect of yo-yo sales, see Singleton v. Stokes Motors, Inc., 595 
SE2d 461 (SC 2004).  Attached is a recent federal court opinion 
explaining various statutes violated in a yo-yo sale even when 
the dealer did sign over title to the consumer. (Padin v. Oyster 
Point Dodge, Case Number 3:04CV50, March 3, 2005). 
 
Odometer Act violations: Odometer Act violations are not limited 
just to misstatements about the car’s odometer.  Unknown to most 
people the Odometer Act does not merely require an accurate 
disclosure.  It requires the disclosure to be in a particular 
place after a car has been titled: on the title document being 
used to assign ownership of the car.  Thus, all used car sales 
should use the title document for the odometer disclosure. This 
is best shown in Yazzie v. Amigo Chevrolet, 189 F. Supp.2d 1245 
(D.N.M. 2001).  In Yazzie, damages were awarded as a matter of 
law because the dealer failed to use the title to make the 
odometer disclosure, and the title would have disclosed 
information that contradicted the misrepresentations made by the 
car dealer.  Similarly, in Salmeron v. Highlands Ford Sales, 
Inc., 223 F. Supp. 2d 1238 (D.N.M. 2002), the failure to disclose 
the mileage on the proper document could support a claim under 
the Act without any allegation of false disclosure of the 
mileage. The rehearing decision at 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3456 
further explains these issues. This issue is currently on appeal 
in three different federal appellate courts, the Fourth, 
Eleventh, and Seventh, and new decisions are expected soon.  
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  Prior-wreck: Selling prior wrecks without proper disclosure is 
a huge problem in the industry.  Insurance companies like State 
Farm have admitted to having established practices of putting 
prior wrecks back out in the stream of commerce without proper 
disclosure.  Some dealers seem to be intentionally selling 
distressed cars because they can be expected to break down. By 
selling a car that the dealer knows will quickly develop 
problems, or be brought back by the consumer, the dealer can 
obtain down payments from consumers and threaten the consumers 
with deficiency judgments on unpaid loans.  Although a title 
history will not always disclose that a car was salvage  (because 
of insurance companies repeated violations of law) it will tell 
you if one car has been repeatedly sold by one dealer, and that 
is an indication of this practice.  Prior-wreck cases can 
generate large damage awards.  Recently, one prior wreck case 
settled for $97,500.00.  In another where the prior damage was 
only cosmetic damage to two doors, the settlement was $67,500.00. 
In both cases, the dealer’s affirmative misrepresentations were 
created the risk of punitive damages and resulted in these 
settlements.  A third case went to trial and the jury awarded 
$100,000.00 on actual damages of about $4,000.00.  These are all 
cases in Virginia which is a notoriously low damage award state 
and where punitive damages are rarely awarded.  In other 
jurisdictions, because of the danger that prior-wrecks pose, 
these cases can generate significant settlements and jury awards.  
 

  Used as new:  Like the prior wreck, selling a used car as new is 
both a normal fraud and one that is sometimes related to related 
to financing. Jordan v. Suave, 219 Va. 448 (1978) is a good 
common law fraud case example.  But remember, the dealer needs to 
sell the credit contract to a finance company, and the funding 
criteria of that institution will determine the allowable loan 
balance.  Thus, a dealer may misrepresent the status of the car 
because more money can be loaned on a new car rather than a used 
car.  For Virginia, the definition of a new car is found in Va. 
Code 42.6-1500, and each state will usually have its own 
definition.  Pursuant to regulations adopted by the Fair Trade 
Commission, a used car that must display the FTC Use Motor 
Vehicle Buyer’s Guide, is any car driven more than the limited 
use necessary for moving or road testing prior to delivery to a 
consumer. 16 C.F.R. 455.1   

Bait and Switch: Bait and Switch takes many forms, and the yo-
yo sale mentioned above is actually one type of bait and switch 
financing.  Many consumers will have responded to a specific 
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advertisement but will not then get the  the car on the credit 
terms that were advertised.  Locating the ad is the quickest way 
to develop the case and show the bait and switch.  Other times 
the bait and switch may be on the price of the trade-in, a 
practice called lowballing.  After the deal is struck, the dealer 
suddenly realizes the trade-in was overvalued and needs more 
money to close the deal. See Peacock Buick v. Durkin, 221 Va. 
1133 (1981); for an extensive list of other deceptive practices, 
see In re Peacock, 86 FTC 1532 (1975).  The finance managers are 
trained salespeople whose job is to sell additional products in 
addition to the car  These sales techniques are designed to sell 
finance-related products whether the consumer wants them or not. 
 Another type of bait and switch is where the consumer thinks 
they are entering into a legitimate transaction, but the dealer 
is instead falsifying information about the credit side of the 
transaction. The dealer does this so that the dealer can sell the 
credit contract for more money to an assignee.  Sometimes, the 
assignee will be involved in the falsifications.  The most recent 
case on this issue is Knapp v. Americredit Fin. Servs., 245 F. 
Supp.2d 841(S.D. W.Va. 2003).  This summary judgment opinion 
details how the finance company was helping the dealer to falsify 
documents to make the consumer appear more credit worthy. 
 
Disclosure of credit terms: The Truth in Lending Act is 
familiar to most lawyers, but most of the clients are presenting 
disclosures that they were given only after they signed them. 15 
U.S.C. 1601 et seq. The TILA requires that the consumer receive 
these in a form that can be kept prior to the consumer signing 
them. Polk v. Crown Auto, 221 F.3d 691 (4th Cir. 2000); Lozada v. 
Dale Baker Olds, 91 F. Supp.2d 1087 (W.D. Mich 2000)(a class 
action that has now been certified with summary judgment to the 
plaintiffs on the delivery issue); Terry v. Whitlock, 102 F. 
Supp.2d 661 (W.D. Va. 2000).  Ask the clients if they received a 
copy to keep, to put in their pocket, to walk out with, prior to 
signing.  If items are included and labeled as options, ask the 
consumer why they purchased that item.  Although checking the 
basic validity of the APR should be a standard practice, most 
dealers have programs so that their disclosures initially look 
accurate. The National Consumer Law Center has a program on disc 
in the back of its TILA Manual to allow you to check the APR 
yourself.  After checking the amounts as disclosed, check to see 
if the tax amount is proper, if the downpayment and trade-in 
amounts are accurate, and if the consumer really provided the 
full downpayment.  The numbers should not just be internally 
consistent; they should properly reflect reality.  The TILA will 
allow you to recover statutory damages and attorneys fees under 
15 U.S.C. 1640(a).  As a statutory to be construed strictly 
against the creditor, the dealer cannot avoid liability by 
claiming that the consumer also engaged in some wrongdoing. 
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Purtle v. Eldridge, 91 F.3d 797 (5th Cir. 1996).  Furthermore, 
under TILA, the Supreme Court has declared that it “reflects a 
transition in congressional policy from a philosophy of ‘Let the 
buyer beware’to one of “Let the seller disclose.” Mourning v. 
Family Publications Service, 411 U.S. 356, 377 (1973).  The yo-yo 
sale discussed above can be raised as a TILA claim,  Janikowski 
v. Lynch Ford, 1999 U.S. Dist. Lexis 3524 (overruling motion to 
dismiss), but the facts have to support the allegations, 
Janikowski v. Lynch Ford, 1999 U.S. Dist. Lexis 12258 (granting 
summary judgment motion to defendant).  For why a dealer would 
withhold the disclosures in a yo-yo transaction (where the dealer 
is not sure yet if the paper can be sold) see Knapp v. 
Americredit Fin. Servs., 245 F. Supp.2d 841(S.D. W.Va. 2003). 
 
Notices about credit decisions: The Equal Credit Opportunity Act 
and the Fair Credit Reporting Act require notices to consumers 
when adverse action is taken on a credit application.  A full 
explanation of the issues is found in the section below.  Recent 
decisions in this area include Cannon v. Metro Ford, Inc., 242 F. 
Supp. 2d 1322, (S.D. Fl. 2002) and Davis v. Reg'l Acceptance 
Corp., 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16775 (E.D. Va. 2002).  The main 
issue under these cases will be whether notices were required and 
whether they were sent.  A notice is required if the dealer, as 
the creditor who prepares a RISC, takes an adverse action as long 
as the consumer does not accept a counter-offer of credit from 
that creditor.  The most recent appellate decision is Treadway v. 
Gateway Chevrolet Oldsmobile, 362 F.3d 971 (7th Cir. 2004), 
finding the dealer was a creditor for purposes of the ECOA.  
Similarly, Kirk v. Kelley Buick of Atlanta, 2004 US Dist. Lexis 
19528 (ND Ga. 2004), explains how both the dealer and its 
potential assignee are creditors under the ECOA that are required 
to provide the proper notice.  Unfortunately, that court’s FCRA 
analysis is not correct because it wrongly holds that a plaintiff 
must show a nexus between the information on the credit report 
and the creditor’s decision.  The attached Padin decision 
provides further analysis. 
 
Insurance issues: When a car dealer also decides to start 
selling insurance, many other issues arise.  States have 
different disclosures that are required for insurance products, 
and see what disclosures were made to the consumer.  In Virginia, 
for credit insurance to be excluded from the finance charge, the 
dealer or creditor must disclose the monthly payment and amount 
financed if no credit insurance is purchased. Va. Code 38.2-3735. 
 The insurance issues can be a fruitful area of discovery to find 
out exactly what type of insurance is being purchased and whether 
it really qualifies as the insurance it purports to be. See Adams 
v. Plaza Finance Company, 168 F.3d 932 (7th Cir. 1999); Edwards 
v. Your Credit Inc. 148 F.3d 427 (5th Cir. 1998).  
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The price of the car: The dealer may inflate the price of the 
car to a credit customer for many different reasons, but all boil 
down to the dealer wanting more profit.  If you can, determine 
what the price would have been if the credit customer had paid 
cash and had no trade-in.  A dealer may not charge a credit 
customer a higher price for the car than would be to charged a 
cash purchaser. See Walker v. Wallace Auto Sales, 155 F.3d 927 
(7th Cir. 1998).  It also may not inflate the cash price to cover 
any alleged negative equity in a trade-in. Negative equity 
transactions are common in the industry, and hiding the negative 
equity is equally common.  The consumer will be harmed by this if 
the consumer paid taxes on that inflated sales price; no consumer 
should have to pay sales tax on a direct loan from the dealer. 
 
Fee shifting statutes: Every car fraud case will allow for a 
private lawyer to seek and recover fees when the case is 
successful.  The time must be carefully and properly documented 
as it is expended.  The fee decision in the Rucker case provides 
a good discussion of what must be done. Rucker v. Sheehy 
Alexandria, Inc., 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4294.  Probably the most 
important fee shifting statute is the Magnuson-Moss Warranty 
Trade Improvement Act, 15 USC § 2301 et seq.  Under 15 USC § 
2310(d) the failure of any supplier, warrantor, or contractor to 
comply with a written warranty, implied warranty, or service 
contract allows the aggrieved party to recover damages and 
attorneys’ fees.  The attorneys’ fees must be calculated based on 
actual time expended and expert fees are included in awarded 
costs.  This powerful remedy allows lawyers to provide legal 
representation to people with warranty issues, and keeps the 
courthouse doors open to those without the ability to afford to 
pay the tremendous costs associated with seeking justice. 
 
Arbitration clauses:  The most dangerous new area for car cases 
is the exponential growth of arbitration clauses.  Bad actors in 
the economy are using binding mandatory arbitration clauses to 
perpetuate illegal business practices.  Two good websites on this 
are www.callbeforeyoubuy.com and www.givemebackmyrights.com.  The 
first is specific to car buying and includes helpful hints on car 
buying and a quick tips sheet.  The second is general to the 
whole range of consumer and employment areas where binding 
mandatory arbitration clauses are being used to bar Americans 
from accessing the American justice system. 
 

Conclusion 
 

Car cases raise a host of issues and are document intensive 

http://www.callbeforeyoubuy.com/
http://www.givemebackmyrights.com/
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transactions. Many of the finance related frauds will only be 
discovered if you know where to look and what you are looking 
for.  Understanding how the relationship between the dealer and 
the finance companies is key to understanding many of these 
frauds, and knowing the laws that regulate that relationship is 
the key to using the legal system to remedy these problems.  
Also, looking at the deceptive sales practices from the beginning 
of the transaction through delivery of the car and title is 
necessary.  Some documents may not be available unless and until 
a lawsuit is filed and production of documents is compelled in 
discovery.  The financing frauds are no accident but come from 
established policies of having set penetration rates that must be 
met, constant measurement of job performance, aggressive sales 
tactics, and a complete lack of regard for basic honesty.  
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Sample Complaint that focuses a yo-yo sale with great facts 
on two Defendants 

 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 
  
 
MORNING C. CONSUMER, JR.,  
AND 
DAWN CONSUMER 

Plaintiffs,         
 

v. CIVIL ACTION NO.     _______________ 
   

VICTORY NISSAN OF RICHMOND, INC., 
KENNY DUNNING, 
and 
HOUSEHOLD AUTOMOTIVE FINANCE CORPORATION, 
Defendants.     
 
 

DRAFT 
 

 COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
 
 INTRODUCTION
 
1.  This case arises from a fraud committed against a young man 

who simply wanted to trade in his old vehicle and purchase a better 
one.  Although he reasonably thought he was negotiating in good-faith 
with a honest business, he ended up being swindled by a crooked car 
dealer.  As a result, he lost his down payment, had his trade-in 
repossessed from the dealer’s lot by his own credit union and then 
sold at auction, had his credit ruined, and is unable to drive the car 
he bought.  The fraudulent scheme violated the Federal Truth In 
Lending Act (TILA), the Federal Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) 
and the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA).  It also violates 
the Virginia Consumer Protection Act (VCPA) and constitutes the state 
law torts of Fraud and Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress.  
Plaintiffs bring this action to recover actual damages, statutory 
damages, punitive damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

 JURISDICTION AND VENUE
2.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 

the TILA, 15  U.S.C. §1640, the ECOA, 15 U.S.C. §1691e(f), the 
FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681p, and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  Supplemental 
jurisdiction of the state law claims regarding the same 
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transactions and events is provided under 28 U.S.C § 1367.  This 
Court has venue over this action because the contract was 
negotiated in Richmond and because the registered agents of all 
corporate defendants are located within the Richmond Division of 
the Eastern District of Virginia. 

PARTIES
3.  Plaintiff Morning C. Consumer, Jr., is a natural person, 

who negotiated a car sale on credit for consumer purposes as 
governed by the TILA, ECOA, FCRA, and the VCPA. 

4.  Plaintiff Dawn Consumer is Mr. Consumer’s fiancee, and a 
person covered under the VCPA in regards to actions taken by the 
car dealer against her. 

5.  Defendant Victory Nissan of Richmond, (Victory Nissan) 
is a Virginia corporation doing business as a retail automobile 
dealer under the name Victory Nissan of Mechanicsville at 6564 
Mechanicsville Turnpike, Mechanicsville, Virginia, 23111.  Its 
registered agent is Chad Raines, 8903 West Broad Street, 
Richmond, Virginia, 23294. In the transaction, it was a 
“creditor” as defined by the TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1602 (f), and the 
ECOA  15 U.S.C. §1691a(e). 

6.  Defendant Kenny Dunning is a natural person, is the 
General Manager of Victory Nissan and was personally involved in 
the transaction with Mr. Consumer.  

7.  Defendant Household Automotive Finance Corporation 
(Household) is a Delaware corporation, doing business in the 
Richmond Division of the Eastern District of Virginia.  Its 
registered agent is CT Corporation System, at 4701 Cox Road, 
Suite 301, Glen Allen, Virginia, 23060.  

 
    FACTS
8.  On May 17, 2004,  Morning Consumer negotiated a credit 

sale of a vehicle at Victory Nissan. 
9.  As part of the sale, he traded in his 1998 GMC 1500, 

provided $2000.00 cash, and signed a Credit Contract with Victory 
Nissan. 

10.  A true and accurate copy of the Credit Contract that 
Victory Nissan prepared is attached as Exhibit A. 

11.  Mr. Consumer reasonably believed that Victory Nissan 
intended to perform its obligations and duties as provided in the 
Credit Contract. 

12. Pursuant to its normal practice and with the express 
ratification and approval of this practice by Kenny Dunn, Victory 
Nissan did not intend to perform its duties as provided in the 
Credit Contract. 

13.  Specifically, at the time it presented Mr. Consumer 
with the Credit Contract, Victory Nissan did not intend to 
unconditionally pay $7,100.00 to the lienholder of his trade-in, 
as indicated under line 2 of the Itemization of the Amount 
Financed. 
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14.  To date, Victory Nissan has not sent any money to the 
lienholder of his trade-in.  

15.  Because Victory Nissan never went out of pocket any 
money to pay the lienholder of the trade-in, the $7,100.00 shown 
as “Less Pay Off Made by Seller” on the Credit Contract should 
never have been included in the Itemization of the Amount 
Financed. 

16.  When the fictitious $7,100.00 payment is removed from 
the Amount Financed, the true Amount Financed, as that term is 
used in TILA and Regulation Z, is $20,475.86. 

17.  The lienholder for the trade-in was Mr. Consumer’s 
credit union, Synthetic Federal Credit Union, and it wanted to be 
paid. 

18.  By June 14, 2004, Mr. Consumer had repeatedly asked 
Victory Nissan to pay this lienholder as required by the 
contract, and Victory Nissan was on notice of the harm it was 
inflicting on Mr. Consumer’s credit and on his standing with his 
own credit union. 

19.  In response to Mr. Consumer’s request for assurances 
that the contract would be followed, Mr. Dunning acknowledged in 
writing that Mr. Consumer was not to blame for the absence of 
payment on the lienholder.   

20.  Attached as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of the 
June 14, 2004, letter from Mr. Dunn. 

21.  The June 14, 2004, letter falsely claims that the 
situation was addressed and that, as a result of that action, the 
lien would be paid off by June 18, 2004. 

22.  Mr. Dunning knew the assertion about the situation 
having been addressed was false, and intended that Mr. Consumer 
rely upon it. 

23.  Because Victory Nissan has never paid the lien, Mr. 
Consumer’s credit union accelerated the balance due and froze his 
credit union account. 

24.  After his credit union froze his account, Mr. Consumer 
and his fiancee could not access their substantial savings and 
were forced to beg and borrow money in order to live. 

25.  On August 11, 2004, the Synthetic Credit Union 
repossessed the trade-in from Victory Nissan’s lot, and sold it 
at auction on September 17, 2004. 

26.  Mr. Consumer must now pay an additional $1,913.30 or 
face legal action. (A true and accurate copy of the credit 
union’s demand, dated September 17, 2004, is attached as Exhibit 
C). 

27.  At no time since signing the Credit Contract has 
Victory Nissan informed Mr. Consumer where he should make his 
monthly payments. 

28.  Additionally, because of the harm caused by Victory 
Nissan’s action, Mr. Consumer has exercised his right to set off 
his damages to the payments due under the contract. 
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29.  Furthermore, unless and until Mr. Consumer receives 
adequate assurances of performance from Victory Nissan, he is not 
required to make any payments under the contract. 

30.  For these reasons, Mr. Consumer cannot be in default of 
his obligations under the Credit Contract and still stands ready 
to perform them. 

31.  At the time of sale, Victory Nissan provided Mr. 
Consumer with a 30 day temporary registration. (Attached as 
Exhibit D is a true and accurate copy of the 30 day temporary 
registration). 

32.  After this temporary registration expired in June 2004, 
Mr. Consumer was not legally able to drive his new car. 

33.  Mr. Consumer requested his permanent registration 
documents from Victory Nissan. 

34.  With the ratification and approval of Mr. Dunn, Victory 
Nissan has refused to provide those permanent registration 
documents to Mr. Consumer. 

35.  At this time, Mr. Consumer is unable to drive his new 
car and has been forced to park it off-street so that it will not 
be ticketed. 

36.  Because Victory Nissan has refused to provide permanent 
registration documents, Mr. Consumer and his fiancee have been 
forced to obtain alternative transportation. 

37.  Victory Nissan has an agreement with Household whereby 
Household authorizes Victory Nissan to act as Household’s agent 
to place Household’s name on contract documents when Victory 
Nissan sells a credit contract to Household. 

38.  For its own reasons, Victory Nissan induced Household 
to access Mr. Consumer’s confidential financial information from 
a consumer reporting agency. 

39.  Along with other third-parties, Household participated 
in Victory Nissan’s credit decision that culminated in Victory 
Nissan preparing the Credit Contract. 

40.  After May 17, 2004, Household or its agent, Victory 
Nissan, informed Greentree, the supplier of the $500.00 GAP 
insurance, that Household had accepted assignment of the Credit 
Contract and was the current lienholder of the Credit 
Contract.41.  After May 17, 2004, Household or its agent, Victory 
Nissan, informed Nissan Consumer Services, the supplier of the 
$1795.00 Service Contract, that Household had accepted assignment 
of the Credit Contract and was the current lienholder of the 
Credit Contract. 

42.  Although Defendants informed these third-parties of 
Household’s decision regarding the Credit Contract, nobody 
informed Mr. Consumer that Household had accepted assignment of 
the Credit Contract and had become the lienholder. 

43.  Although Mr. Consumer does not know the current 
lienholder of the Credit Contract, he believes that Household has 
transferred it to another party without informing him, Greentree, 
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or Nissan Consumer Services. 
44.  The interaction between Victory Nissan and Household 

constituted participation in Victory Nissan’s decision whether to 
extend credit to Mr. Consumer, such that Household met the 
definition of a creditor under the ECOA, 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(e), 
and Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 202.2(l), and was required to 
notify Mr. Consumer that it approved becoming the lienholder.   

45.  Although Victory Nissan never provided Mr. Consumer 
with any notice that his application was considered incomplete, 
after May 17, 2004, Kenny Dunning repeatedly demanded additional 
documentation from Mr. Consumer. 

46.  In an effort to threaten and intimidate both 
Plaintiffs, Mr. Dunning repeatedly threatened them with criminal 
prosecution if they did not agree to his increasingly strident 
demands for further documentation. 

47.  Mr. Dunning made these threats with the specific intent 
that Plaintiffs believe them, and that Plaintiffs be scared by 
them. 

48.  Both Plaintiffs believed these threats, were afraid of 
criminal prosecution, and repeatedly sought the advice of the 
counsel in an effort to calm their fears. 

49.  By August 2004, Mr. Dunning was demanding that Mr. 
Consumer sign some additional documents. 

50.  In response to that demand, Mr. Consumer sent a written 
request for the documents. (Attached as Exhibit D is a true and 
accurate copy of the August 24, 2004 letter). 

51.  Victory Nissan did not send any documents to Mr. 
Consumer. 

52.  In addition to the fraud about paying the trade-in and 
failing to inform Mr. Consumer about Household’s actions, Victory 
Nissan falsely charged a $10.00 On-Line Systems Filing Fee and a 
$399.00 Processing Fee for Consumer Services. 

53.  Although these charges were for Victory Nissan to 
immediately issue permanent registration documents to Mr. 
Consumer, Victory Nissan instead issued temporary documents and 
has refused to provide the permanent documents.   

54.  On August 10, 2004, Victory Nissan requested and 
reviewed Mr. Consumer’s private financial information contained 
in a consumer report, as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 
1681a(d). 

55.  Given Kenny Dunn’s direct involvement in the 
transaction, Plaintiff is informed and believes that this viewing 
or use of his private financial information was done at Kenny 
Dunn’s request or with his approval. 

56. Defendants Victory Nissan and Kenny Dunning obtained or 
used that consumer report without a permissible purpose, as that 
term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a). 

57.  As a result of just wanting to buy a car, Mr. Consumer 
ended up losing his trade-in and his down payment, having his 
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credit rating harmed, having his credit union account frozen, 
being threatened with both criminal and civil prosecution, having 
to borrow money from friends and family, having a new car that he 
cannot drive, and not knowing who is the lienholder of his Credit 
Contract.    

58.  The Defendants combined actions turned a simple car 
purchase into a nightmare that still continues to plague 
Plaintiffs to this day. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violations of the Truth in Lending Act Against Victory 
Nissan  

 
59.  As the creditor in the transaction, Victory Nissan was 

required to provide Mr. Consumer with accurate TILA disclosures. 
60. Victory Nissan violated the TILA and Regulation Z by 

failing to properly deliver accurate disclosures as required by 
the TILA and Regulation Z, including the following: 

a.  by failing to disclose accurately the true “Amount 
Financed” that reflected the amount of credit that was 
actually made available to Mr. Consumer as required by 15 
U.S.C. § 1638(a)(2(A) and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 
226.18(b); and  

 
b. by failing to provide disclosures that were 

calculated on the information reasonably available to it at 
the time the disclosures were provided, and by not labeling 
those disclosures as estimates 

 
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violations of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act Against Victory 
Nissan and Household 

61.  Victory Nissan and Household  Defendants individually 
violated the ECOA and Regulation B by not providing Mr. Consumer 
with proper notice of the action taken regarding his credit 
application as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d) and 12 C.F.R. § 
202.9. 

62.  Victory Nissan misrepresented that Mr. Consumer’s 
application for credit that included paying $7,100.00 to his 
lienholder had been approved when Victory Nissan actually did not 
intend to make that payment as required under the Credit 
Contract. . 

63.  If Mr. Consumer’s application was incomplete, Victory 
Nissan failed to provide Mr. Consumer with either an 
incompleteness notice or an adverse action notice as required by 
the ECOA.  

64.  Household relied upon Victory Nissan to inform 
Plaintiffs and third-parties when it accepted assignment of the 
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Credit Contract, and is responsible for Victory Nissan’s decision 
to inform Greentree and Nissan Consumer Services while failing to 
inform Mr. Consumer of Household’s decision.  

65.  As a result of these ECOA violations, Mr. Consumer 
suffered substantial actual damages, including but not limited 
to, the loss of his rights to information about the actions taken 
on his credit application and the reasons for those actions, the 
loss of use of his new vehicle, the loss of his trade-in and his 
down payment, the freezing of his credit union account,  the loss 
of time, harm to his credit rating, and other emotional and 
mental anguish. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act Against Victory 

Nissan and Kenny Dunning 
 

66.  Defendants Victory Nissan and Kenny Dunning each 
participated in obtaining and using a consumer report on Mr. 
Consumer in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(f). 

67.  Their violations were willful and knowing. 
68.  In the alternative of willful and knowing violations, 

the Defendants’ violations were negligent. 
69.  As a result of these FCRA violations, Mr. Consumer 

suffered the loss of his right to keep his private financial 
information confidential. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Fraud against Victory Nissan and Kenny Dunning 

 
The fraud regarding the trade-in’s lien 

 
70.  In the Credit Contract Victory Nissan, falsely 

represented its intent to payoff the trade-in. 
71.  In the June 14, 2004, letter Victor Nissan and Kenny 

Dunning falsely represented to Mr. Consumer that his trade-in’s 
lien would be paid off and the situation already addressed. 

72. Victory Nissan and Kenny Dunning intentionally made 
these false representations and intended that Mr. Consumer and 
others rely upon them. 

73.  Mr. Consumer relied on these representations and 
suffered harm as a result of that reliance. 

74.  Mr. Consumer actual damages, include but are not 
limited to the loss of use of his new vehicle, the loss of his 
trade-in and his down payment, the freezing of his credit union 
account, the loss of time, harm to his credit rating, and other 
emotional and mental anguish. 

The fraud regarding the permanent title documents to the new 
car 

75.  Victory Nissan, with the ratification and/or consent of 
Kenny Dunn, falsely represented to Mr. Consumer that it would be 



 17

providing him with permanent registration documents for the car 
on the terms provided in the Credit Contract. 

76.  Victory Nissan, with the ratification and/or consent of 
Kenny Dunn, charged Mr. Consumer for the services of obtaining 
those documents immediately through an electronic usage agreement 
with the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

77.  Victory Nissan, with the ratificatioin and/or consent 
of Kenny Dunn, knew it was not providing those permanent 
documents immediately, and would not be providing them on the 
terms provided in the Credit Contract. 

78.  In making these misrepresentations, Victory Nissan 
acted as an agent of the Department of Motor Vehicles by virtue 
of authority it receives from the Commonwealth of Virginia to 
process title transfers for consumers just as if the consumers 
went to a window at the Department of Motor Vehicles.   

79.  This arrangement is established through a series of 
contracts that electronically link Victory Nissan directly into 
the Department of Motor Vehicles’ database; it can thus 
immediately issue license plates and tags for the Commonwealth, 
can collect taxes and titling fees, and can issue permanent 
registration documents. 

80.  Victory Nissan is allowed to charge and collect an on-
line filing fee for this electronic service in those transactions 
when it performs this service; and it assessed this $10.00 fee 
against Mr. Consumer. 

81.  Under its contracts regarding its electronic link to 
the Commonwealth’s database and by accepting Mr. Consumer’s 
monies due the Commonwealth, Victory Nissan owed him a fiduciary 
duty to properly and quickly document and transmit Mr. Consumer’s 
information and fees about Mr. Consumer’s transaction to the 
Department of Motor Vehicles. 

82.  This additional duty owed to Mr. Consumer was separate 
and apart from the ordinary duties of a retail car seller, and 
existed because Victory Nissan has been given special permission 
to act as an agent of the Department of Motor Vehicle and 
represented to Mr. Consumer that it was doing so in this 
transaction. 

83. By collecting the $10.00 on-line fee, a $399.00 fee for 
other processing, almost $800.00 in taxes, and the title fee, 
Victory Nissan represented to Mr. Consumer that his permanent 
ownership documents were being processed with the Commonwealth. 

84.  Mr. Consumer reasonably relied on these representations 
and believed that his permanent documents were being processed 
with the Department of Motor Vehicles.  

85.  Pursuant to its plan, Victory Nissan did not send any 
documents or fees to the Department of Motor Vehicles regarding 
Mr. Consumer’s transaction and never obtained his permanent 
documents. 

86.  As a result of his reliance on Victory Nissan’s 
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misrepresentation about processing fees and documents with the 
Department of Motor Vehicles, Mr. Consumer suffered substantial 
actual damages, including but not limited to, the loss of use of 
the car he tried to purchase, the loss of his trade-in and his 
down payment, the loss of time, harm to his credit rating, and 
other emotional and mental anguish. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of the Virginia Consumer Protection Act against Victory 

Nissan  
 

87.  Pursuant to Va. Code § 59.1-200, both Plaintiffs are 
entitled to pursue a VCPA claim against Victory Nissan. 

88.  Plaintiff Dawn Consumer suffered a loss, including 
emotional distress and lost time, as result of Victory Nissan’s 
violation of Va. Code § 59.1-200(A)(14) when Victory Nissan 
threatened her with criminal prosecution. 

89.  Against Mr. Consumer, Victory Nissan violated the 
prohibition contained in Va. Code § 59.1-200 (14) against using 
any deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, or 
misrepresentation in connection with a consumer transaction in 
several different ways, including by each of the 
misrepresentations underlying the fraud claims, by threatening 
criminal prosecution, and by not paying the trade-in’s lien. 

90.  Victory Nissan committed these VCPA violations 
deliberately and willfully. 

91.  As a result of the VCPA violations against him, Mr. 
Consumer suffered substantial actual damages, including but not 
limited to, the loss of use of his new car, the loss of his 
trade-in and his down payment, the loss of access to his credit 
union account, the loss of time, harm to his credit rating, and 
other emotional and mental anguish, all of which were direct or 
incidental and consequential damages which were reasonably 
foreseeable by the defendant.  

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress against Victory 

Nissan and Kenny Dunning 
 

92.  Defendants intentionally or recklessly threatened each 
Plaintiff with criminal prosecution. 

93.  The Defendants’ actions were outrageous and intolerable 
because no such basis for criminal action existed and because 
Defendants’ actions were part of a scheme to threaten and bully 
young innocent people. 

94.  Defendants’ actions caused emotional distress for each 
Plaintiff. 

95.  The Plaintiffs’ distress was so severe that they sought 
professional advice about the situation.   
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REQUEST FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES  
96. Victory Nissan and Kenny Dunning acted intentionally and 

willfully in perpetrating their fraud against Mr. Consumer, or 
they acted with reckless disregard for his rights and interests 
and the rights and interests of the general public, such as to 
justify an award of  punitive damages against each of them. 

97. Victory Nissan and Kenny Dunning also acted 
intentionally and willfully in threatening both Plaintiffs with 
criminal prosecution, or acted with reckless disregard for their 
rights and interests, such as to justify an award of punitive 
damages against each of them. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray that this Court: 
1.  Assume jurisdiction of this case;  
2.  Award actual damages to Morning Consumer under the TILA, 

ECOA, FCRA, Fraud, VCPA, and Intentional Infliction of Emotional 
Distress claims, in a manner so as to avoid a double recovery for 
the same harm;  

3.  Award actual damages to Dawn Consumer under the VCPA and 
Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress claims, in a manner 
so as to avoid a double recovery for the same harm; 

4.  Award statutory damages in the amount of $38,210.84 
(twice the true finance charge of $19,105.42), in accordance with 
the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(2)(A)(i), against 
Victory Nissan; 

5. Award statutory punitive damages in the amount of 
$10,000.00 against Defendant Victory Nissan and also against 
Household for violations of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, 15 
U.S.C. § 1691e(b); 

6. Award statutory damages of at least $100 to $1,000.00 
pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681n(a)(1)(A), against Victory Nissan for 
its impermissible access of Mr. Consumer’s private financial 
information, and award statutory damages of at least $1,000.00 
pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681n(a)(1)(A), against Kenny Dunning for 
his impermissible access of Mr. Consumer’s private financial 
information; also award punitive damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 
§1681n(a)(2) against Victory Nissan and Kenny Dunning for their 
willful violations of the FCRA in such amount as the court may 
allow; 

7.  Award three times the actual damages or $1,000.00, 
whichever is greater, for each willful violation of the Virginia 
Consumer Protection Act pursuant to Va. Code § 59.1-204(A), 
against Victory Nissan; 

8.  Award punitive damages against Victory Nissan and Kenny 
Dunning based upon their intentional torts, up to the amount 
allowed under Virginia law; 

9.  Award  Plaintiffs’ costs and reasonable attorney's fees 
in accordance with the Truth in Lending Act, the Equal Credit 
Opportunity Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Virginia 
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Consumer Protection Act, and Virginia common law; 
10.  Award pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; and  
11.  Award such other relief as the Court deems appropriate. 

TRIAL BY JURY IS DEMANDED 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
Morning C. Consumer, Jr. 
Dawn Consumer

Sample Way  to Argue Common TILA violations 
 

PLAINTIFF’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S 
MOTION TO DISMISS 

 
INTRODUCTION 

The Motion to Dismiss filed by Defendant places in issue the proper interpretation of 
important sections of the Truth in Lending Act (TILA) involving statutory damages.  Two main 
issues are raised: whether the amount financed was misdisclosed when it was increased an extra 
$21.00 beyond the amount actually paid to the government for registering the car, and whether a 
creditor’s duty to “disclose” credit terms under 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a) requires the creditor to comply 
with Regulation Z’s General Disclosure Requirements given in 12 C.F.R. § 226.17.  The Motion to 
Dismiss must be denied Because the answer to both these questions is an unequivocal “yes.” 

FACTS 
The Complaint alleges that Bobby Murray Toyota charged Plaintiff $41.00 that was labeled 

on the credit contract as governmental registration fees.  (Para. 14b).  The actual cost to register the 
car in North Carolina is $20.00 (Para. 15), and the Bobby Murray Toyota paid the North Carolina 
DMV only $20.00 to register the car. (Para. 26).  Bobby Murray Toyota simply pocketed the extra 
$21.00. (Para. 26).   The Complaint specifically alleged that the $21.00 was an additional charge 
under 15 U.S.C. § 1605(a) (the definition section of TILA for a “finance charge”). (Para. 29).  It 
further alleged that this misrepresentation of the amount paid to the North Carolina DMV caused the 
Finance Charge, the Amount Financed, and the Annual Percentage Rate to be improperly disclosed. 
(Para. 29). 

Regarding the TILA disclosures, the Complaint alleges that Bobby Murray Toyota gave a 
copy of the credit contract to Plaintiff after she had signed it. (Para. 14b).  It alleges that Bobby 
Murray Toyota violated the TILA by failing to deliver all disclosures as required by the TILA and 
Regulation Z. (Para. 28).   It further explains that Bobby Murray Toyota did not give Plaintiff a copy 
of the disclosures in a form she could keep prior to consummation. (Para. 30).   
  

ARGUMENT 
 

THE MOTION TO DISMISS MUST BE DENIED BECAUSE THE AMOUNT 
FINANCED, FINANCE CHARGE, AND APR WERE NOT CORRECT, AND BECAUSE 

DEFENDANT FAILED TO DISCLOSE ANY TERMS AS REQUIRED BY TILA.  
 

Under 12(b)(6) of the Rules of Federal Civil Procedure, Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss can 
only be granted if there is no set of facts that would entitle Plaintiff to a verdict on the claims in 
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issue. To file its Motion to Dismiss, Defendant must accept the facts alleged in the Complaint as 
true. See Scheuer v. Rhoades, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974); Puerto Rico ex. rel. Ouiros v. Alfred L. 
Snapp & Sons, 632 F.2d 365 (4th Cir. 1980). Furthermore, all reasonable inferences must be made in 
favor of Plaintiffs. See Johnson v. Mueller, 415 F.2d 354 (4th Cir. 1969); MacKethan v. Peat. 
Marwick. Mitchell & Co., 439 F. Supp. 1090 (E.D. Va. 1977). No count can be dismissed unless it 
appears beyond a doubt that Plaintiffs cannot recover under any set of facts which could be proven. 
See Doby v. Safeway Stores. Inc., 523 F. Supp. 1162 (E. D. Va. 1981); Austin v. Reynolds Metals 
Co., 327 F. Supp. 1145 (E. D. Va. 1970).  Because Plaintiff’s TILA claim is properly alleged, the 
Motion to Dismiss must be denied. 

     A. 
 

TO PROTECT THE AMERICAN ECONOMY, THE TILA  
IS TO BE INTERPRETED LIBERALLY AND REQUIRES NO PROOF  

OF ACTUAL DAMAGES FOR AN AWARD OF STATUTORY DAMAGES 
 

The TILA was passed by Congress on May 29, 1968, P. L. 90-321, “to assure meaningful 
disclosure of credit terms so that the consumer will be able to compare more readily the various 
credit terms available to him.” 15 U.S.C. § 1601.  See Beach v. Ocwen, 523 U.S. 410, 413 (1998).  
The TILA was necessary because Congress determined “economic stabilization would be enhanced 
and the competition among the various financial institutions and other firms engaged in the 
extension of consumer credit would be strengthened by the informed use of credit.” 15 U.S.C. § 
1601.   

Accordingly, the TILA is carefully designed to promote “the efficient functioning of a free 
economic system” by providing consumers with information that allows them to shop for the best 
possible credit terms. Mourning v. Family Publications Service, 411 U.S. 356, 363-64 (1973). Thus, 
to avoid the uninformed use of credit, Congress created this “barrier between the seller and the 
prospective purchaser in the form of hard facts .  .  .  .”  Mourning, at 377 (also stating that TILA 
changes the philosophy of ‘Let the buyer beware’ to one of ‘Let the seller disclose.’”).  Thus, this 
barrier of written disclosures to prospective consumers provides for a strong American economy by 
forcing creditors to educate prospective consumers so that creditors are forced to openly compete in 
the free market. 

To accomplish the TILA’s important purpose, the Act and its regulations are to be absolutely 
complied with and strictly enforced. See Mars v. Spartanburg Chrysler Plymouth, 713 F.2d 65, 67 
(4th Cir. 1983) (ruling the a technical violation about typeface size imposed liability).  Accordingly, 
as a remedial, strict liability statute that is to be liberally construed, the TILA requires no proof of 
deception or actual damages to obtain its statutory damages remedies. See Purtle v. Eldridge Auto 
Sales, 91 F.3d 797, 800 (6th Cir. 1996); McGowan v. King, Inc., 569 F.2d 845, 848-49 (5th Cir. 
1978); Redhouse v. Quality Ford Sales, Inc., 523 F.2d 1, 2 (10th Cir. 1975) (en banc).  Any defects 
in the disclosure of the material terms, even technical defects, must be recognized without requiring 
any proof that the consumer was confused. See Jenkins v. Landmark Mortgage Corp., 696 F. Supp. 
1089, 1092, 1095 (W.D. Va. 1988) (citing Powers v. Sims and Levin, 542 F.2d 1216, 1219 (4th Cir. 
1976)). 

The protective posture of this legislation is also shown in its enforcement through a system of 
private attorneys general. See Edwards v. Your Credit, Inc., 148 F.3d 427, 432 (5th Cir. 1998).  This 
remedial scheme “is designed to deter generally illegalities which are only rarely uncovered and 
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punished .  .  .  .” Id. (citing Fairley v. Turan-Foley Imports, Inc., 65 F.3d 475, 480 (5th Cir. 1995)).  
This private attorneys general enforcement system has contributed to the tremendous success of 
TILA’s requirements of standardized disclosures that allow consumers to knowledgeably shop for 
credit terms. See Russell v. Fidelity Consumer Discount Company, 72 B.R. 855, 681-62 (1987). 

 
B. 
 

THE MOTION TO DISMISS MUST BE DENIED BECAUSE  
PLAINTIFF HAS ALLEGED THAT DEFENDANT VIOLATED TILA’S  

STRICT PROVISIONS IN TWO DIFFERENT WAYS. 
 

1. Because of the extra $21.00 in the amount financed, Plaintiff is entitled to 
recover statutory damages for improper disclosure of the Amount Financed, 
Finance Charge, and Annual Percentage Rate. 

 
a. Under TILA, any charge in a credit transaction that is not properly 

included in the amount financed is a finance charge and must be 
disclosed as part of the finance charge. 

 
Under Regulation Z, the amount financed in a retail credit sale of goods includes the cash 

price of the goods plus “any other amounts that are financed by the creditor and are not part of 
the finance charge . . .” 12 C.F.R. 226.18(b).  Pursuant to Regulation Z, any charge listed in 12 
C.F.R. § 226.4(b) is a finance charge “except for charges specifically excluded by paragraphs (c) 
through (e).” In a closed-end credit transaction like an installment contract, the failure to include 
a charge that is really a finance charge in the appropriate TILA box causes the TILA terms to be 
misdisclosed.  See Abbey v. Columbus Dodge, 607 F.2d 85, 86 (5th Cir. 1979) (improperly 
disclosed $37.50 finance charge was violation when it was disclosed as a filing fee even though 
it was simply retained); see also Steele v. Ford Motor Credit Corp., 783 F.2d 1016, 1018-19 
(11th Cir. 1986) (finding violation for $24.00 error based on miscalculation of prior loan 
amount); Brodo v. Bankers Trust Co., 847 F. Supp. 353, 358 (E.D. Pa. 1994) ($10.00 inflation of 
true cost of filing fees disclosed in amount financed box rather than as a finance charge was 
material violation).  

Creditors have an incentive to improperly shift charges from the finance charge to the 
amount financed because if the finance charge is lower then the disclosed annual percentage rate 
is lower.  As explained by Judge Posner of the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh 
Circuit, “the disclosed interest rate is higher the higher the finance charge and lower the higher 
the amount financed.  This creates an incentive for lenders, who want the interest rate to look as 
low as possible, to shift items from the finance charge (interest) to the amount financed 
(principal).” Adams v. Plaza Finance Co., 168 F.3d 932, 933 (7th Cir. 1997).  Because the 
annual percentage rate is mathematically derived by comparing the amount financed to the 
amount and sequence of payments, see 15 U.S.C. § 1601(a)(1)(A) and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 
226.22(a)(1), lowering the amount financed while keeping the payments the same will always 
increase both the annual percentage rate and the finance charge.  

Because of a creditor’s incentive to conceal finance charges in the amount financed, a 
court must penetrate the outer form of a transaction to identify its inner substance to determine 
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when the TILA is violated. Adams, 168 F.3d at 936.  The TILA requires “truthful and (it is 
hoped) informative disclosure of the interest rate and the other terms of credit.  The relevant 
substance is truth.” Id..  If creditors could use false disclosures and then prohibit inquiry into the 
discrepancy between the disclosure and actual practice, a huge loophole would open up. See id. 
at 937 (noting that courts cannot “forbid plaintiffs to prove if they can that a finance charge has 
been mislabeled as part of the amount financed”).  Thus, TILA compliance always turns on 
whether a disclosed charge in the amount financed was properly included in the amount 
financed.    

Once a consumer shows a charge in the amount financed is actually a finance charge, the 
consumer is not required to prove multiple negatives to establish a violation. See Brodo, 847 F. 
Supp. at 358 (rejecting defendant’s argument that the plaintiff failed to prove that a $10.00 
charge met none of the exceptions to being a finance charge.); see also Wright v. Tower Loan, 
679 F.2d 436, 444 (5th Cir. 1982) (regarding an additional disclosure’s capacity to mislead, 
“[t]he lender, however, bears the burden of compliance.”).  Brodo succinctly summarized all that 
a plaintiff needs to prove to establish a violation. 

 
Bankers also argues that plaintiff has failed to establish that the $ 10 overcharge 
was not properly excluded from the finance charge on some other basis. Bankers 
is asking plaintiff to prove a negative. Plaintiff has demonstrated that the 
proffered basis for excluding the $ 10 from the finance charge was incorrect. 
"Only those charges specifically exempted from inclusion in the 'finance charge' 
by statute or regulation may be excluded from it." In re Celona, 90 Bankr. 104, 
112 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1988) (citations omitted); aff'd, Celona v. Equitable Nat'l. 
Bank, 98 Bankr. 705 (E.D. Pa. 1989). No provision exempts a recording fee 
which is not both "prescribed by law" and "actually ... paid to public officials" 
from the finance charge. 12 C.F.R. 226.4(e)(1). The $ 10 overcharge in the 
amount financed therefore constitutes a material TILA violation which, standing 
alone, entitles plaintiff to rescind the transaction. 

 
847 F. Supp at 358 (providing rescission as the statutory remedy because the credit was secured 
by the plaintiff’s residence).     
 

b. As already determined by the Fourth Circuit, improper amounts included in 
the amount financed allow for recovery of statutory damages. 

 
The Fourth Circuit has already determined that when an improper amount is included in 

the amount financed, then statutory damages are appropriate. See Nigh v. Koons Buick Pontiac 
GMC, 319 F.3d 119 (4th Cir. 2003).  Nigh’s TILA claim was based on Koon’s improper 
inclusion of a charge for a silencer car alarm in a complicated transaction that included different 
versions of the retail installment contracts (RISC).  “Nigh prevailed on his TILA claim that 
Koons Buick intentionally included the charge for the Silencer on RISC II without a basis for the 
charge.”Id. at 123.  The basis for the TILA claim flowing from the improper charge was 
explained in the District Court’s opinion. “Nigh also claims that Koons improperly calculated the 
sales tax on RISC 2. In addition, Nigh asserts that Koons charged Nigh $ 965 on RISC 2 for a 
"Silencer" that Koons never installed. Nigh argues that these miscalculations changed the 
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amount financed, the finance charge, total number of payments, total sales price, and the annual 
percentage rate.” Nigh v. Koons Buick Pontiac GMC, 143 F. Supp. 2d 535, 541 (E.D. Va. 2001). 
 The Fourth Circuit upheld the statutory damages of twice the finance charge that flowed from 
improperly including the $965.00 charge in the amount financed. See 319 F.3d at 126-128.   

Nigh proves that the analysis in Abbey v. Columbus Dodge, 607 F.2d 85 (5th Cir. 1979), 
Steele v. Ford Motor Credit Corp., 783 F.2d 1016 (11th Cir. 1986), Brodo v. Bankers Trust Co., 
847 F. Supp. 353  (E.D. Pa. 1994) is the law in the Fourth Circuit.  Although creditors have an 
incentive to hide charges in the amount financed because it lowers the finance charge and the 
annual percentage rate, an improper charge in the amount financed results in statutory damages. 
 
          c. Plaintiff is entitled to recover statutory damaghes because the extra $21.00 

that was not paid to register the car with the DMV was an improper amount 
included in the amount financed.    

 
Just like the defendant in Nigh, Brodo, Abbey, and Steele, Bobby Murray Toyota 

concealed a finance charge in the amount financed.  Although the Complaint specifically alleges 
that the $21.00 charge was a finance charge, Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss refuses to recognize 
the validity of this allegation.  As a finance charge, the $21.00 charge could not be included in 
the amount financed.  Plaintiff is entitled to prove the allegations of her Complaint, which once 
proven true, will result in Defendant’s liability for statutory damages. 

 Even if the Complaint did not specifically allege that the $21.00 charge was a finance 
charge, the alleged facts show that it is a finance charge.  The inflated amount beyond what was 
required to register the car does not meet any of the exclusions of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 
226.4.  Although the $20.00 that was actually paid to register the car meets the exclusion listed 
in the Commentary to Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R., Appendix C, Para. 226.4(a)(1) of “taxes, license 
fees, or registration feess paid by both cash and credit customers,”the extra $21.00 was not a tax 
or license or registration fee.  Like the extra “filing fee” in both Abbey and Brodo, it is simply an 
extra charge without any basis that was assessed in the credit transaction.  As in Nigh, Brodo, 
Abbey, and Steele, this extra charge needed to be included in the finance charge rather than the 
amount financed.  Defendant has pointed to no definition of the amount financed that the $21.00 
charge meets and similarly has pointed to no exclusion from the finance charge that it satisfies. 

Defendant’s reliance on cases like Martin v. Equity One Consumer Discount is simply 
misplaced.  In Martin, the plaintiff was charged a $92.22 premuim for credit insurance and no 
allegation was made that the full $92.22 was not the actual premium.  In Martin, the defendant 
creditor also played the role of insurance salesman and received a commission on that premium.  
Pursuant to Regulation Z, the itemization of the amount financed should have indicated to the 
consumer that some portion of the $92.22 was being paid as a commission to the 
creditor/insurance salesman.  Most important, such a proper disclosure would not have altered 
the dollar amount disclosed as the premium amount, would not have altered the total in the 
amount financed, and would not have altered the finance charge or the annual percentage rate.  
Because the error in the itemization of the amount financed had no effect on any other 
disclosures, statutory damages were not allowed in Martin. 

Plaintiff is allowed to recover statutory damages based on the allegation that a $21.00 
finance charge was hidden in the amount financed.  Defendant has pointed to no cases analogous 
to these facts that finds to the contrary, and in Nigh the Fourth Circuit allowed statutory damages 
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in just this type of situation. For this reason, the Motion to Dismiss must be denied.   
 

2.  Because Defendant failed to disclose any of the 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a) items as required 
by TILA and because violations of 1638(a) allow for statutory damages, Plaintiff is 
entitled to recover statutory damages.  

 
Like other creditors who refuse to comply with the TILA, Defendant seeks a ruling that 

would limit statutory damages and hinder the objectives of the TILA.  It seeks to eliminate the 
method whereby all creditors are subject to TILA oversight by asking this Court to remove the 
economic incentive -- statutory damages -- that Congress provided to ensure all consumers had 
an opportunity to use TILA disclosures to credit shop.  In essence, it asks this Court to create a 
different definition of “disclose” than provided for by TILA and Regulation Z.  Although some 
other courts have accepted this argument, the better reasoned decisions find statutory damages to 
be available when a creditor does not disclose TILA terms as required.  Because of the plain 
language of the statute and the policy behind it, statutory damages are available for failing to 
disclose TILA’s required items in the manner required by TILA.  
 

a.  Regardless of how § 1640 is interpreted, statutory damages are allowed 
because Defendant violated the “shall disclose” requirement of § 1638(a). 

 
The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has already determined that a car dealer violates the 

TILA when it fails to provide written disclosures to a consumer in a form that could be kept prior 
to consummation. See Polk v. Crown Auto, 221 F.3d 691, 692 (4th Cir. 2000).  In Polk, the only 
question was “whether a seller is required to make the required disclosures in writing and in a 
form the consumer can keep before consummation, or whether Regulation Z is satisfied as long 
as the disclosures are made in some form before consummation and the consumer later receives 
the disclosures in writing, in a form that he can keep.”  The Court stated the requiring delivery of 
the disclosures in a form that could be kept prior to consummation comports with the intent of 
TILA. See also, Walters v. First State Bank, 134 F. Supp.2d 778 (W.D. Va. 2001); Lozada v. 
Dale Baker Oldsmobile 197 F.R.D. 321, 336-37 (W.D. Mich. 2000)(Lozada I).  Because the 
facts of the delivery were not in dispute, the Polk, Walters, and Lozada cases all resulted in an 
entry of judgment for liability under the TILA.  

Because Defendant acknowledges that a violation of 1638(a) regarding specified items 
will allow for statutory damages, whether Defendant “disclosed” those items under TILA must 
be determined..  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a), Congress stated that a creditor “shall disclose” 
specified items and under § 1640 provided statutory damages for failures to comply with 1638(a) 
regarding six of the specified items.  The TILA does not impose a loose statutory requirement of 
“adequate disclosure” but instead “Congress gave the debtor a right to specific information.” 
White v. Arlen Realty & Development Corp., 540 F.2d 645, 649 (4th Cir. 1975).  Because any 
creditor complies or violates § 1638(a) depending on whether terms were “disclosed,” the 
definition of “disclose” must first be determined.       

The term “disclose” in § 1638(a) must be defined according to TILA’s intent and 
purpose. As recognized by the Fourth Circuit in Nigh, the central purpose of TILA is to provide 
disclosures to a consumer prior to entering a credit transaction. 
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We agree with this rule because the regulation expressly refers solely to the 
consumer's commitment and because TILA's express purpose of protecting 
consumers from receiving inadequate disclosures prior to their entering into credit 
transactions could not otherwise be effectuated. If consummation, or extension of 
credit, does not encompass a consumer's commitment to a financing agreement 
that provides unilateral power for the creditor to execute the agreement later, 
creditors could intentionally provide faulty disclosures  to consumers, obtain their 
commitment, and then afterwards provide accurate disclosures prior to closing the 
transaction, which if provided earlier might have dissuaded the consumer from 
accepting the credit, all without incurring TILA liability-   

319 F.3d at 124 (emphasis added).  The Fourth Circuit recognized that TILA’s various 
provisions must be interpreted in the manner that effectuate the Act’s goal of providing 
disclosures prior to the credit transaction.     

As shown by the express language of the statute, by its official interpretations, and by the 
Polk decision, a creditor “discloses” TILA information in only one way, by giving the consumer 
a physical copy of the written TILA disclosures in a form that can be kept prior to signing the 
credit contract.  The Federal Reserve Board has supported the Polk decision by adding a new 
section to the TILA commentary. 12 C.F.R. § 226, Appendix C, Para. 226.17(c) now states: “It is 
not sufficient for the creditor merely to show the consumer the document containing the 
disclosures before the consumer signs and becomes obligated.  The consumer must be free to 
take possession of and review the document in its entirety before signing.”  Only in this way can 
the TILA strengthen the economy by allowing all consumers an opportunity to knowledgeably 
shop for credit, and the failure to properly disclose information creates an “injury in fact.” See 
White, 540 F.2d at 649.  Consequently, the only way to disclose information under TILA is to 
disclose it according to Regulation Z’s requirements. . 

 No authority exists in TILA for this Court to use any other definition of “disclose” other 
than what is provided within TILA and Regulation Z.  The mandate that TILA disclosures must 
be “meaningful,” 15 U.S.C. § 1601(a), is not mere precatory language; it is not sufficient that 
disclosures exist on some piece of paper- the items must be disclosed to the consumer to comply 
with TILA. Under the authority given it by TILA, the Federal Reserve Board has defined what 
“disclose” means.  For closed-end credit like retail installment contracts, Regulation Z, § 
226.17(a)-(i) provides the required framework for the TILA meaning of “ disclose.”  In Polk, the 
Fourth Circuit already decided that “the plain meaning of the regulation must be understood to 
be that written disclosure in the form specified in subpart (a) must be provided to the consumer 
at the time specified in subpart (b).”  221 F.3d at 692.  Consequently, the“shall 
disclose”requirement  in § 1638(a) is defined by all pertinent subparts of Regulation Z, § 226.17. 
 Therefore, a creditor can only “disclose” a § 1638(a) item by disclosing it in the manner 
required by Regulation Z, 226.17. 

The allegations of the Complaint, which must be accepted as true, are that Defendant did 
not deliver the TILA disclosures as required by TILA.  This properly alleges that Defendant did 
not comply with § 1638(a)’s “shall disclose” mandate for the items to which statutory damages 
attach.  The Complaint specifically alleges that Defendant did not give the disclosures until after 
Plaintiff signed the credit contract.  Additionally, no facts alleged in the Complaint show that 
Defendant complied with § 1638's “disclose” requirement.   Therefore, Defendant did not 
“disclose” any TILA items as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a) and Plaintiff properly seeks 
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statutory damages. 
 

b. In addition to § 1638(a)’s “disclose” requirement, the plain language of 15 
U.S.C. § 1640(a) establishes liability for statutory damages for a failure to 
deliver credit disclosures prior to consummation.  

 
Despite the complex language of 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a), Defendant erroneously claims that 

disclosure requirements not subject to statutory damages without even identifying which part of 
§ 1640(a) it is applying.  Defendant simply relies on Brown v. Payday Check Advance, Inc., 202 
F.3d 987 (7th Cir. 2000), and a few other cases that mistakenly rely on Brown, to contend that 
failing to deliver disclosures as required by the TILA is not subject to statutory damages.  
Because the Brown opinion misread § 1640(a) to reach its holding, its analysis should not be 
extended to preempt non-delivery of the disclosures from the statutory damage remedy. 

The relevant part of 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a) reads as follows: 
Except as otherwise provided in this section, any creditor who fails to comply 
with any requirement imposed under this part, including any requirement under 
section 1635 of this title, or part D or E of this subchapter with respect to any 
person is liable to such person in an amount equal to the sum of--  

 
(1) any actual damage sustained by such person as a result of the failure; 
(2)(A)(i) in the case of an individual action twice the amount of any finance 
charge in connection with the transaction, . . . . 

 
**** 

 
In connection with the disclosures referred to in section 1638 of this title, a 
creditor shall have a liability determined under paragraph (2) only for failing to 
comply with the requirements of section 1635 of this title or of paragraph (2) 
(insofar as it requires a disclosure of the "amount financed"), (3), (4), (5), (6), or 
(9) of section 1638(a) of this title, or for failing to comply with disclosure 
requirements under State law for any term which the Board has determined to be 
substantially the same in meaning under section 1610(a)(2) of this title as any of 
the terms referred to in any of those paragraphs of section 1638(a) of this title . . . 
. 

 
(Emphasis added.)   

As stated in the section’s first clause, “[e]xcept as otherwise provided in this section”, the 
statute’s provision for a mandatory award of statutory damages for “any” violation is all-
inclusive, subject only to the specific exceptions that follow.  The use by Congress of the word 
“any” admits of no exception.  Hutto v. Finney, 437 U.S. 678, 694 (1978)(“could not be broader . 
. . contains no hint of an exception”); Brooks v. United States, 337 U.S. 49, 51 (1949); 
Kalmbach, Inc. v. The Insurance Company of the State of Pennsylvania, 529 F.2d 552, 556 (9th 
Cir. 1976)(“[T]he word ‘any’ has a comprehensive meaning and has been judicially defined to 
mean ‘all or every.’”).  Thus, initially the statute provides statutory damages for each and every 
requirement of that chapter of the TILA, and then states that a few exceptions will be made for 
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those requirements not leading to statutory damages. 
Despite Brown’s misread of the statute, the plain language imposes statutory damages for 

the failure to comply with the form and timing requirements of TILA because those requirements 
are not subject to an enumerated exception.  For closed-end credit regulated by 15 U.S.C. § 
1638, the exceptions that remove some requirements from statutory damages does not remove 
the form and timing requirements from statutory damages liability.  The phrase “the disclosures 
referred to in section 1638” carves out from statutory damages liability the disclosures required 
by § 1638(a)(1), (7), (8), (10), (11), (12), (13), and (14), by including the other disclosures in 
1638(a).  Most important, § 1640(a) makes no reference to the other requirements of 1638; the 
specific disclosures in § 1638 are completely listed in subsection (a) and the other requirements 
for those disclosures are listed in subsections (b), (c) and (d).   With this structure, Congress only 
carved out part of the disclosures of § 1638(a) from statutory damages liability and left 
untouched the statutory damages that attaches when the requirements of 1638(b) are not met.  
The Brown decision ignored the structure of § 1640(a) and, without any textual basis, assumed 
that the listed disclosure exceptions instead were an exclusive listing of requirements subject to 
statutory damages.  

The Brown mischaracterization was fully rebutted in Lozada v. Dale Baker Oldsmobile, 
Inc., 145 F. Supp.2d 878 (W.D. Mich. 2000)(Lozada II).  It identified that exceptions to broad 
statutory language must be narrowly, not broadly, construed to avoid undermining the operation 
of the statute’s general principle, and observed that Brown’s ruling regarding § 1640(a) conflicts 
with the fundamental structure of the statute which provides presumptive availability of statutory 
damages followed by exceptions. Id. at 886-89.  Lozada II noted that the phrase “the disclosures 
referred to in section 1638” refers to only the disclosure items set out in 1638(a) and “is not a 
comprehensive description of all types of potential violations of the TILA generally or of § 1638 
specifically.” Id. at 888.  Consequently, for “the disclosures mentioned in 1638(a), only the 
enumerated numbers are subject to statutory damages.” Id.  Because the requirements of § 
1638(b) are not “disclosures referred to in section 1638(a),” they fall within the general 
statement “any requirement” in § 1640(a) and they are never carved out as an exception. Id. at 
887-88.  

Judge Hillman concluded that: 
 

Under the interpretation given by the Brown court, the initial phrase of the statute 
stating “except as otherwise provided” is rendered meaningless -- indeed, it is 
contradicted. If the enumerations are the sole source of authority for section 
1640(a)(2) damages, no reason exists for the initial phrase. Without a presumption 
of availability of statutory damages, the exceptions do not constitute an 
“otherwise,” merely a simple grant of authority.  

 
. . . When Congress chose to except certain “disclosures referred to in section 
1638,” no basis exists for assuming that Congress intended to except other 
requirements that were not “disclosures referred to in section 1638.” I therefore 
conclude that statutory damages are available under § 1640(a)(2) for violations of 
§ 1638(b)(1). 

 
Id.  Thus, he properly ruled that the failure to give the written disclosures necessarily leads to 
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statutory damages.  This application of § 1640 was also accepted in  Daenzer v. Wayland Ford, 
Inc., 193 F. Supp. 2d 1030, 1035-37 (W.D. Mich. 2002).  It concluded “that § 1640(a) permits 
recovery of statutory damages for violations of § 1638(b)(1) because the subsection is not one of 
the "disclosures referred to in section 1638,"and those disclosures not enumerated are the only 
portions of the statute for which statutory damages are not available.: Id. at 1036-37 

Without regard to the “shall disclose” requirement in § 1638(a), Plaintiff has properly 
alleged a statutory damages claim because of late delivery of the TILA disclosures.  Based on 
the plain language of § 1640(a), violations of 1638(b)’s timing requirements result in statutory 
damages.  The TILA’s Official Staff Commentary, 12 C.F.R. § 226, Appendix C, Para. 
226.17(c), clarifies the simplicity of compliance under TILA: the consumer must be given the 
document containing the disclosures before the consumer signs and becomes obligated.  Because 
the Complaint alleges that Plaintiff was not given the disclosures until after she signed the credit 
contract, the Complaint properly states a claim for statutory damages.  

 
c. Defendant cannot ask this Court to substitute a different definition of 

“disclose” in 1638(a) other than TILA’s required disclosure framework. 
 

If a creditor’s failure to give the document containing the disclosures prior to 
consummation complied with the “shall disclose” requirements of § 1638(a), then a creditor 
could escape TILA compliance by any manner of artifice.  Unless the disclosure requirements of 
Regulation Z are used as the definition of “disclose,” some other definition must be used.  A 
creditor could claim that “disclose” under § 1638(a) means to provide oral disclosures because 
nothing in 1638(a)(2)(A),(3), (4), (5), (6), and (9) requires written disclosures.  Taken to the 
extreme, § 1638(a) does not even require a specific disclosure to the consumer; a creditor could 
claim compliance by stating the disclosures were on a poster on a wall and therefore “disclosed” 
to everyone in the room.  Furthermore, if a creditor could “disclose” under § 1638(a) by 
providing the document with the written disclosures after consummation, then no limit would be 
placed on when the creditor would have to deliver such disclosures.  A creditor could claim it 
“disclosed” under § 1638(a) by sending written disclosures days, weeks, or even months after the 
transaction. See e.g., Jenkins, 696 F. Supp. 1089, 1092-93 (W.D. Va. 1988) (where the creditor 
mailed disclosures days after the transaction).   

Because TILA’s sole purpose is to mandate the disclosure of information prior to a credit 
agreement, written disclosures not given until after obtaining a consumer’s signature is 
essentially no different from a written disclosure mailed to the customer days, months, or even 
years after consummation.  Once the consumer has signed the credit agreement, the window of 
opportunity has closed; similarly, the creditor’s window of opportunity to disclose any of the 
TILA terms has closed.  Defendant’s reliance on Brown is misplaced because Brown involved 
minor technical violations and never analyzed how to comply with the basic and fundamental 
“disclose” requirement of § 1638(a).  Allowing a creditor to avoid statutory damages for not 
properly presenting the required disclosures “would give lenders a free pass to violate the 
disclosure requirements by making them inaccessible to borrowers . . . .” Jackson v. Check ‘N 
Go, 193 F.R.D. 544, 549 (N.D. Ill. 2000) (limiting the Brown decision to its particular 
violations). 

In his second Lozada opinion, Judge Hillman explained why the failure to properly 
provide the document with the disclosures must lead to statutory damages.   
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[I]f a failure to deliver disclosures under § 1638(b) is considered a “disclosure[] 
referred to in section 1638” within the meaning of § 1640, then the failure to 
deliver disclosures in the manner provided by § 1638(b)(1) must be considered a 
failure to disclose the required terms under § 1638(a).  The requirements of § 
1638(b)(1) may not be considered “disclosures” for purposes of § 1640 and yet 
not part of the disclosure requirements of § 1638(a). 

 
Lozada v. Dale Baker Oldsmobile, Inc, 145 F. Supp.2d 878, 889 (W.D. Mich. 2000).  Congress 
could not have intended “disclosures” in § 1640(a) to refer to the requirements of § 1638(b) 
while at the same time intending “disclose” in § 1638(a) not to include the § 1638(b) 
requirements. Consequently, the failure to deliver the document containing the disclosures prior 
to consummation leads to statutory damages. See Walters v. First State Bank, 134 F. Supp.2d 
778, 782 (W.D. Va. 2001) (an opinion by Judge Moon, the trial judge from Polk). 

Because the failure to provide disclosures prior to consummation is a failure to disclose 
the items required by § 1638(a), regardless of how this Court reads § 1640(a), Defendant is still 
subject to statutory damages under § 1640(a)(2)(A)(i).     
 

CONCLUSION 
 

For all the reasons given above, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court deny the 
Motion to Dismiss.  Plaintiff has properly alleged that the amount financed, finance charge, and 
annual percentage rate were misstated, and also alleged that these terms were not disclosed to her 
as required by TILA.  Therefore, she has stated a claim for statutory damages in two different 
ways.     
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 Sample Ways to Argue ECOA and FCRA Notice Violations 
 

I. 
A CREDITOR NECESSARILY VIOLATES THE ECOA IF IT DOES NOT PROVIDE A 
PROPER ACCURATE NOTICE TO A CONSUMER ABOUT THE ACTION IT TOOK ON 

A CREDIT APPLICATION. 
 
A.  Pursuant to the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, creditors or their 

assignees must truthfully notify applicants about the action taken on 
an application for credit. 

 
1. The Equal Credit Opportunity Act subjects original creditors and 

their assignees to liability if a notice is not provided within thirty 
days after an application is made. 

 
The ECOA was passed by Congress “to insure that the various financial 

institutions and other firms engaged in the extensions of credit exercise their 
responsibility to make credit available with fairness, impartiality, and without 
discrimination on the basis of sex or marital status.” Pub. L. 93-495, § 502, 88 Stat. 
1525 (Oct.  28, 1974, from Congressional Findings and Statement of Purpose).  As 
part of this comprehensive statutory regulation, a creditor must inform an 
applicant about the action taken on an application within thirty days of the 
application.  15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(1).  Like other consumer protection statutes, 
attempted compliance is not sufficient.  See Jochum v. Pico Credit Corp., 730 F.2d 
1041 (5th Cir. 1984)(untimely notice through a third-party not sufficient); Pierce v. 
Citibank, 843 F. Supp. 646 (D. Or. 1994)(notice to spouse not sufficient).  Also like 
the other federal consumer statutes, the protective posture of this legislation is also 
shown in its enforcement through a system of private attorneys general. See 
Edwards v. Your Credit, Inc., 148 F.3d 427, 432 (5th Cir. 1998)(regarding Truth in 
Lending Act claims but equally applicable to the Equal Credit Opportunity Act.).  
When a creditor violates this statute, the creditor is liable for actual damages and 
statutory damages and a court my grant equitable and declaratory relief. 15 U.S.C. 
§ 1691(e).   

A creditor for purposes of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act includes original 
creditors and any potential assignees who participate in the decision to extend or 
continue credit.  Under 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(e), a creditor for purposes of the Equal 
Credit Opportunity Act includes “any person who regularly extends, renews, or 
continues credit; any person who regularly arranges for the extension, renewal, or 
continuation of credit; or any assignee of an original creditor who participates in the 
decision to extend, renew, or continue credit.”  Because of the scope of this 
definition, “creditor” includes “an assignee or a potential purchaser of the obligation 
who influences the credit decision by indicating whether or not it will purchase the 
obligation if the transaction is consummated.” Official Staff Commentary to 
Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 202, Supplement I, Comm. 202.2(l)-1. 
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2. Although notice of approval can be given in many ways, an written 

for an adverse action must be provided within thirty days of the 
action. 

 
When a creditor has approved an application, it can provide the notice of 

approval in different ways.  “Notification of approval may be express or by 
implication.  For example, the creditor will satisfy the notification requirement 
when it gives the applicant the credit card, money, property, or services requested.” 
 Official Staff Commentary to Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 202, Supplement I, Comm. 
202.9(a)(1)-2. 

Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d), when an adverse action is taken against an 
application, the creditor must provide a timely written notice of the action and be 
prepared to provide the specific reasons for the credit denial.  The written notice 
must be provided within thirty days of the action and identify how to obtain the 
specific reasons for the denial. 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(1) and (2)(B).  Requiring this 
notice was perhaps the most significant of the 1976 amendments to the ECOA, and 
was designed to fulfill the twin goals of consumer protection and education.  Fischl 
v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 708 F.2d 143, 146 (5th Cir. 1983).  The Senate 
report for these ECOA amendments stated that a strict notice provision was  

a strong and necessary adjunct to the antidiscrimination purpose of 
the  legislation, for only if creditors know they must explain their 
decisions will they effectively be discouraged from discriminatory 
practices. Yet this requirement fulfills a broader need: rejected credit 
applicants will now be able to learn where and how their credit status 
is deficient and this information should have a pervasive and valuable 
educational benefit. Instead of being told only that they do not meet a 
particular creditor's standards, consumers particularly should benefit 
from knowing, for example, that the reason for the denial is their short 
residence in the area, or their recent change of employment, or their 
already over-extended financial situation. In those cases where the 
creditor may have acted on misinformation or inadequate information, 
the statement of reasons gives the applicant a chance to rectify the 
mistake.      

 S. Rep. No. 94-589, 94th Cong., 2d Sess., reprinted in 1976 U.S.Code Cong. & 
Admin. News, pp. 403, 406. n3.   

The thirty day time period for the ECOA adverse action notice starts when the 
creditor has obtained the information on which it will base its decision.  Pursuant to 
12 C.F.R. § 202.2(e), an applicant “includes any person who is or may become 
contractually liable regarding an extension of credit.”  An application is “an oral or 
written request for an extension of credit that is made in accordance with 
procedures established by a creditor . . . .” 12 C.F.R. § 202.2(f).  A completed 
application is “an application in connection with which a creditor has received all 
the information that the creditor regularly obtains and considers in evaluating 
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applications for the amount and type of credit requested” and specifically includes 
credit reports.  12 C.F.R. § 202.2(f).  Consequently, an application is "complete" . . . 
when the creditor obtained the verifying information for its decision about 
evaluating the loan. See High v. McLean Financial Corp., 659 F. Supp. 1561, 1564 
(D.D.C. 1987).  Conversely, any specific application is not complete until the 
creditor obtains the last piece of information pertinent to its decision and the notice 
must then be provided after that event. See Dufay v. Bank of America, 94 F.3d 561, 
564 (9th Cir. 1996). 
 

3.  The creditor must be ready to truthfully identify the specific 
reason for the action taken on the application. 

 
A creditor must provide more than general statements about the reasons for the 

adverse action.  Pursuant to Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 202.9(b)(2), “[s]tatements 
that the adverse action was based on the creditor’s internal standards or policies or 
that the applicant failed to achieve the qualifying score on the creditor’s scoring 
system are insufficient.”  Consequently, a vague statement of the reasons for a 
credit denial will not allow a consumer to know how to meet the creditor’s 
standards. Fischl, 708 F.2d at 148 (citingTaylor, Meeting the Equal Opportunity 
Act's Specificity Requirement: Judgmental and Statistical Scoring Systems, 29 
Buffalo L.Rev. 73, 90 (1980); Reizenstein, A Fresh Look at the ECOA, 14 Akron 
L.Rev. 215 (1980); R. Clontz, Equal Credit Opportunity Manual at 5-24 (1983 
Supp.); United States of America v. Montgomery Ward & Co., [1980 Transfer 
Binder] Consumer Credit Guide (CCH) para. 97,732 (D.D.C. May 29, 1979)).   

The Federal Reserve Board has informed creditors that whether they use a 
credit scoring system or a judgment system they must be ready to disclose the 
factors actually scored in the system.  Creditors who use a credit scoring system 
must be ready to disclose “those factors actually scored in the system.  Moreover, no 
factor that was a principal reason for adverse action may be excluded from 
disclosure.  The creditor must disclose the actual reasons for denial (for example, 
“age of automobile”) even if the relationship of that factor to predicting 
creditworthiness may not be clear to the applicant.” Official Staff Commentary to 
Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 202, Supplement I, Comm. 202.9(b)(2)-4.  Creditors who 
use a judgmental system, the disclosure must “relate to those factors in the 
applicant’s record actually reviewed by the person making the decision.”  Id. at 
9(b)(2)-6.  When creditors use a combined credit scoring and judgment system, “the 
reasons for the denial must come from the component of the system that the 
applicant failed.” Id. at 9(b)(2)-7      

Like other consumer protection statutes, the relevant substance is truth and 
notices must be truthfully about the facts which they express.  Fischl., 708 F.2d at 
148 (finding notice was “manifestly inappropriate” because it stated denial was 
based on insufficient credit references when the real reason was the brevity of the 
history)(citing Carroll v. Exxon Co., 434 F. Supp. 557, (E.D. La. 1977) for ECOA 
being violated where creditor gave only one reason when in fact four other reasons 
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were used); see also Adams v. Plaza Finance, 168 F.3d 932, 936 (7th Cir. 
1999)(regarding the Truth in Lending Act but equally applicable to the ECOA).  If a 
consumer cannot learn the creditor’s minimum standards for accepting credit, the 
consumer can neither “improve his credit application, correct any misinformation in 
his credit record, or guard against discrimination, thus thwarting both the 
protective and educational objectives of the ECOA.” Fischl, 708 F.2d at 148.     
 

4. When a creditor considers an application incomplete, it must either provide 
a written notice of the incompleteness or provide an adverse action notice. 

 
The thirty day time period for the ECOA adverse action notice starts when the 

creditor has obtained the information on which it will base its decision.  Pursuant to 
12 C.F.R. § 202.2(e), an applicant “includes any person who is or may become 
contractually liable regarding an extension of credit.”  An application is “an oral or 
written request for an extension of credit that is made in accordance with 
procedures established by a creditor . . . .” 12 C.F.R. § 202.2(f).  A completed 
application is “an application in connection with which a creditor has received all 
the information that the creditor regularly obtains and considers in evaluating 
applications for the amount and type of credit requested” and specifically includes 
credit reports.  12 C.F.R. § 202.2(f).  Consequently, an application is "complete" . . . 
when the creditor obtained the verifying information for its decision about 
evaluating the loan. See High v. McLean Financial Corp., 659 F. Supp. 1561, 1564 
(D.D.C. 1987).  Conversely, any specific application is not complete until the 
creditor obtains the last piece of information pertinent to its decision and the notice 
must then be provided after that event. See Dufay v. Bank of America, 94 F.3d 561, 
564 (9th Cir. 1996). 

Pursuant to Regulation B, if the action is incomplete the creditor can provide a notice of 
incompleteness or provide an adverse action notice. See 12 C.F.R. § 202.9(a)(ii) and 202.9(c)(1). 
 Like the adverse action notice, the notice of incompleteness must be in writing and provided 
within 30 days of receiving the application.  See 12 C.F.R. § 202.9(c)(2).  The notice of 
incompleteness must include all the information required by § 202.9(c)(2).  Although a notice 
may initially be provided orally, if the information is not provided by the consumer, the written 
notice must be provided.  See 12 C.F.R. § 202.9(c)(3).  The FRB has reminded creditors that 
when “additional information is needed from the applicant, such as an address or telephone 
number needed to verify employment, the creditor should contact the applicant promptly.”  
Official Staff Commentary to Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 202, Supplement I, Comm. 202.2(f)-5.   

If the application is incomplete “but provides sufficient data for a credit decision,” the 
creditor may still evaluate the application and provide the proper notice based on its 
determination. Official Staff Commentary to Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 202, Supplement I, 
Comm. 202.9(a)(1)-4.  If the creditor denies the credit after such an evaluation, “the 
incompleteness of the application cannot be given as the reason for the denial.” Id.  
Consequently, once an application is made to a creditor, the creditor must provide some notice to 
the consumer of its ultimate action on the application even if the application is not fully 
completed.    
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 B.   Sample way to argue that a creditor violated the ECOA because it provided absolutely 

no appropriate notice to Plaintiff about the action taken on her credit application, 
1. When a financial institution participates in the credit decision process, it is a 

creditor for purposes of the ECOA and subject to the enforcement remedies of that 
statute.  

 
Plaintiff alleged that no adverse action was provided to her, and Greater Mid-Atlantic 

orgininally claimed that it sent such a notice.  Mid-Atlantic has failed to produce any such 
notice, and has not produced any notice at all that it provided to Plaintiff.  Because the ECOA 
requires a written notice if an adverse action is taken or if an action is incomplete, Mid-Atlantic 
necessarily violated the ECOA if it took an adverse action or if it considered Plaintiff’s 
application incomplete.  

Because Greater Mid-Atlantic took an adverse action, it violated the ECOA by not 
providing an adverse action notice.  When Greater Mid-Atlantic chose to not purchase the Credit 
Contract, the entire credit transaction was canceled.  By rescinding its “conditional approval,” 
Greater Mid-Atlantic took an adverse action as defined in 12 C.F.R.  § 202.2(c)(1)(i) or (ii).  It 
was either a refusal under (i) or a termination under (ii) and either way an adverse action notice 
was required, and none was provided.   

In the alternative,  if the application was considered incomplete, Greater Mid-Atlantic 
violated the ECOA by not providing a notice of incompleteness.  Based on Greater Mid-
Atlantic’s own admission in its Interrogatory Answers, it treated the Plaintiff’s applicationwas 
incomplete.  Because it provided no notice of adverse action, it was required to provide a notice 
of incompleteness.  Greater Atlantic’s failure to provide either notice thus violated the ECOA.  

 
2. Additionally, because the conditional nature of the approval was based on 

incompleteness and was not properly communicated to Plaintiff, Greater Mid-
Atlantic necessarily violated the ECOA by not providing proper notice of that 
condition. 

 
  At minimum, Greater Mid-Atlantic violated the ECOA because the contract documents 
represented that Greater Mid-Atlantic approved the transaction without providing any notice of 
the conditional nature of that approval.  Although Greater Mid-Atlantic knew that its approval 
was conditional, the Credit Contract contains no conditions.  Furthermore, the Application for 
Certificate of Title and the Deficiency Waiver Addendum show Greater Mid-Atlantic as the 
lienholder.  The execution of these contracts and the delivery of the car to Plaintiff is notice to 
Plaintiff that her credit was approved. See  Official Staff Commentary to Regulation B, 12 
C.F.R. § 202, Supplement I, Comm. 202.9(a)(1)-2.  However, these documents showing 
this notice do not inform Plaintiff about the conditional nature of the approval and thus are not 
accurate.  Providing inaccurate notice about the action taken on a credit application defeats the 
whole purpose of the ECOA’s notice provision.  In 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(1). 

Greater Mid-Atlantic can point to no notice provided to Plaintiff that accurately stated the 
conditional nature of its approval.  Therefore, the documents that showed unconditional approval 
violated the ECOA.  When the condition failed, it was necessarily required to fully inform 
Plaintiff about the action it took.  Because no such accurate information was ever provided, it 
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necessarily violated the ECOA. 
 

II. 
 

ANY PERSON VIOLATES THE FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT BY NOT 
PROVIDING AN APPROPRIATE NOTICE TO A CONSUMER THAT IT 

ACCESSED A CREDIT REPORT AND BY NOT TELLING THE SOURCE OF 
THE INFORMATION USED TO TAKE AN ADVERSE ACTION ON A 

CREDIT APPLICATION. 
 
A.  Pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act, users of credit reports and 

other credit information must provide a notice to consumers when they 
deny credit or take an adverse action in part on information from 
credit reports or other sources.  

 
The Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) was passed, in part, because Congress recognized 

that “[i]naccurate credit reports directly impair the efficiency of the banking system, and unfair 
credit reporting methods undermine the public confidence which is essential to the continued 
functioning of the banking system.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681(a)(1).  It was originally passed as part of 
the Consumer Credit Protection Act by Public Law 91-508, October 26, 1970, and was 
extensively amended as part of the Consumer Credit Reporting Reform Act of 1996 Title II, 
Subtitle D, Chapter 1, of the Omnibus Consolidated Appropriations Act for Fiscal Year 1997,  
Pub.L.No.104-208, 110 Stat. 3009-426 (enacted Sept. 30, 1996; effective Sept. 30, 1997), 
codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. 

In a nutshell, it reforms the credit reporting industry--an industry 
that affects the lives of virtually every working American. Credit 
bureaus--especially TRW, Equifax, and Transunion, the big 
3--have 450 million files on individual consumers. They process 
over 2 billion pieces of data each month, and do so at practically 
the speed of light. The credit reports they compile determine 
whether a consumer will obtain a mortgage, a car or business loan, 
a job, and even an apartment.  

 
If these reports are not accurate, or if they are distributed without a 
legitimate purpose, then our whole society suffers. Consumers may 
be unfairly deprived of credit, employment, and their privacy. And 
businesses may lose out on the opportunity to gain new customers.  

 
140 Cong. Rec. H9809,  September 27, 1994, Statement of Rep. Kennedy,  commenting on the 
amendments.   

The FCRA’s amendments were necessary because of the explosive combination of 
economic and technological changes.   

The FCRA was enacted to ensure that the Nation's credit reporting 
system functioned fairly, accurately, and without undue intrusion 
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into the consumer's privacy. But our country has changed 
dramatically over the past two decades, and so too has the 
technology which facilitates the credit reporting system. Credit 
reports are no longer filed in manila envelopes and stored in metal 
cabinets. Today, reports are stored, manipulated and relayed by the 
most sophisticated computers in the world. When the FCRA was 
passed in 1970, the largest credit bureau had 27 million files on 
consumers. Today, each of the three largest bureaus keeps files on 
170 to 200 million consumers. 

 
140 Cong. Rec. H9810,  September 27, 1994, Statement of Rep. Torres.  In addition to many 
other changes, the amended FCRA “expands the required disclosures to consumers when they 
are denied credit or employment based on a third party’s report.”  Kodrick v. Ferguson, 54 F. 
Supp.2d 788 , 790 (N.D. Ill. 1999) 

When any person uses information from a credit report or information obtained from a 
third party other than a credit reporting agency, the user is required to provide notice about that 
use of information.  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681m(a), a user of a consumer report who takes an 
adverse action with respect to a consumer must provide a notice about the use of the credit 
report.  The term “adverse action” includes, among many other events, the same events given in 
15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(6) of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act.   This notice must be provided 
when the action “is based in whole or in part on any information in a consumer report.” 15 
U.S.C. § 1681m(a).  When the adverse action is taken on information obtained from third parties 
other than a consumer reporting agency, 15 U.S.C. § 1681m(b) similarly requires the  user to 
provide a notice to the consumer about the consumer’s right to request information about the 
reason for the action that was taken.  Consequently, whether a consumer report is used or 
information obtained elsewhere, the FCRA requires a notice to the consumer. 

Although the notices required by the FCRA and the Equal Credit Opportunity Act can be 
combined, they serve different purposes and each has its own requirements. See  Official Staff 
Commentary to Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 202, Supplement I, Comm. 9(b)(2)-9 (explaining how 
combined ECOA-FCRA notices are permissible but compliance with one Act is not compliance 
with the other.)    As stated in 15 U.S.C. § 1681(a)(1), our “banking system is dependent on fair 
and accurate credit reporting.”  By receiving notice of the source of the information that 
was used to make the decision on the credit, the consumer is able to verify whether 
that information was correct.  “The purpose of the notification provision is to enable 
the subject of a consumer report to request disclosure from the reporting agency of 
the nature and scope of the information in his file.” See Fischl v. General Motors 
Acceptance Corp., 708 F.2d 143, 149 (5th Cir. 1983) (regarding information in 
consumer reports obtained from credit reporting agencies).   

 In addition to other information required by the FCRA, a user of a consumer 
report must provide the consumer with the name, address, and the telephone 
number of the consumer reporting agency from whom it obtained the report. 15 
U.S.C. § 1681m(a)(2)(A).  As explained in Fischl, Congress wanted the notice to be 
made concurrently with the adverse action. 

The House amendment, which was agreed to by the 
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conferees, deleted the requirement in § 615(a) [1681m(a)] that 
the consumer be required to submit a written request after 
denial of credit, insurance, or employment to obtain the name 
and address of the consumer reporting agency making the 
report. The conference substitute now requires the user of the 
report to convey this information to the consumer immediately 
upon denial of credit, insurance or employment. 

 
Conf.Rep. No. 91-1587, 91st Cong., 2d Sess., reprinted in 1970 

U.S.Code Cong. & Admin. News, pp. 4394, 4416 (emphasis added). In 
the course of her presentation of the conference bill to the House, 
Representative Sullivan commented:  

 
The House conferees succeeded in assuring immediate 

notification to any individual, who is rejected for credit, 
insurance or employment because of information in a credit 
report, of the name and address of the agency which made the 
report on him. Thus, his right to access to his file is made more 
meaningful -- he will automatically be told where to look for 
information which may be causing him needless harm. The 
Senate Bill would have required the consumer who had been 
rejected for credit, insurance, or employment because of . . . 
information in a credit file to request, in writing, the name and 
address of the credit reporting bureau, in order to check 
further into the information which may have caused his 
rejection. It was our feeling that this was a needless 
technicality which would have resulted, from a practical 
standpoint, in some, or many, individuals, for timidity or other 
reasons, failing to exercise their rights to find out where to go 
in order to have a damaging credit report reevaluated and, if 
wrong, corrected. Some of the consumer witnesses at our 
hearings made a particular point of this. 

 
H.R. 15073, 91st Cong., 2d Sess., 116 Cong.Rec. 36571 (1970) 

(emphasis added).  
 
One court, after examining the statutory language and pertinent 

legislative history, opined that disclosure under § 1681m(a) must be 
effected contemporaneously with the creditor's notification of its 
decision to decline credit. Carroll v. Exxon Co., U.S.A.. This position 
finds support in advisory guidelines compiled by the FTC. FTC 
Pamphlet, Compliance with the Fair Credit Reporting Act at 3 (rev'd. 
ed. 1979) ("the consumer is given the right to be told the name and 
address of the consumer reporting agency when he is rejected for 
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credit, insurance or employment at the time of such denial . . . .") 
(emphasis added). Accord, R. Clontz, Equal Credit Opportunity 
Manual at 5-19 (1983 Supp.); Weinstein, Federal Fair Credit Reporting 
Act -- Compliance By Lenders and Other Users of Consumer Credit 
Information, 89 Banking L.J. 410, 423 (1971).  

 
708 F.2d 143 at 150 (emphasis in original).  Therefore, the notice required by the 
FCRA must be provided when the action is taken.  Immediate notice allows the 
consumer the opportunity to confirm that the action was taken on accurate 
information.     
 

B.  Sample way to argue a creditor violated the Fair Credit 
Reporting Act by not  informing that it took an adverse action in 
whole or in part on information contained in consumer reports. 

 
Chrysler Financial admits that it obtained credit reports from Experian and 

Equifax and used them to determine to turn down the request sent to it by 
Peninsula Dodge.  Pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act, it was obligated to 
give Plaintiffs an opportunity to check and be sure that Equifax and Experian had 
provided Chrysler Financial with accurate information.  Chrysler Financial violated 
15 U.S.C. § 1681m(a) by failing to provide Plaintiffs with any notice that it accessed 
these credit reports.   

If Chrysler Financial takes the position that when it accessed Plaintiffs’ credit 
report it did not do so in the context of participating in the decision to extend credit 
to Plaintiffs, then Chrysler Financial will have violated the Fair Credit Reporting 
Act because it did not have a permissible purpose to obtain these reports.  Pursuant 
to 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(f), a person violates the Fair Credit Reporting Act if it obtains 
a consumer report without a permissible purpose. 

Therefore, no material fact is in dispute that Chrysler Financial violated the 
Fair Credit Reporting Act. 
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Sample Brief Defending Complaint that ties common law fraud claim to federal 
Motor Vehicle Information and Cost Savings Act Claim 

 
 

PLAINTIFF’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN OPPOSITION  
TO DEFENDANT RICHMOND BMW’S  MOTION TO DISMISS 

 
INTRODUCTION 

This case is essentially about typical sale tactics used a by a car dealer and a lender to 
get a purchaser to buy a car and finance it through them. These tactics involve intentional 
misrepresentations and other misdeeds which totally disregard the plaintiff’s, Mrs. Victim’s, 
rights as mandated by state and federal laws that governs the sale of vehicles to 
consumers.  This case was filed in state court, but was removed to federal court by the 
defendants.  Mrs. Victim alleges that the dealer, Richmond BMW, along with a complicit 
lender, BB&T, misrepresented that the cost to finance the vehicle was the best rate 
available, that they concealed that BB&T had agreed to finance the vehicle at a lower 
interest rate, and that Richmond BMW intentionally misrepresented the ownership and 
wreck history of the vehicle, and sold a service contract that Mrs. Victim later learned would 
not cover the problems she complained of since they were the result of the wreck.  In order 
to accomplish this fraudulent sale and increase its profits the dealer had to violate federal 
and Virginia consumer statutes designed to protect consumers from unethical tactics in the 
marketplace. 

Richmond BMW’s Motion To Dismiss is an example of one of the usual tactics used by 
defendants when sued for intentional fraud and punitive damages.  Rarely do defendants 
accused of actual fraud find religion and admit that they intended to commit the fraud, and 
therefore, as in criminal cases, proof of the defendant’s state of mind or intent at the time of 
the fraud is critically dependant on circumstantial evidence of defendant’s intent, and 
evidence of what rights of the victim have been disregarded by the defendant. Thus, as 
evidenced by Richmond BMW’s Motion To Dismiss, the strategy is to try to get the court to 
throw out as much evidence  as possible so that at the time of any dispositive motion or 
trial there is not enough evidence for a plaintiff to carry its difficult burden of proving 
Richmond BMW’s actions were not simply a mistake or a one-time error, but in fact were 
intentional fraudulent and malicious, or so reckless as to evince a conscious disregard for 
Mrs. Victim’s rights, thereby permitting the award of punitive damages.1  Rarely do 
defendants charged with actual fraud admit that they intended to commit the fraud or that 
they intentionally disregarded their civil obligations as mandated by statutes, such as those 
cited by plaintiff, violated by Richmond BMW, and which carry criminal penalties. Thus, 

                                                 
1  The Virginia Supreme Court has held that in order to recover punitive damages, “The question is 
whether the (plaintiff's) evidence, and all reasonable inferences therefrom, was sufficient to permit the 
jury to find that the defendant was so reckless or negligent as to evince a conscious disregard of the 
plaintiff's rights; that is, whether the (defendant) acted wantonly, oppressively, or with such malice as to 
evince a spirit of mischief or criminal indifference to civil obligations”.  Jordan v. Suave and Koons Ford, 
219 Va. 448, 453; 247 S.E.2d 739, 742 (1978)  



 
 

proof of the defendant’s state of mind or intent at the time of the fraud is critically 
dependant on circumstantial evidence, and evidence of what rights of the victim have been 
violated.  This court should see Richmond BMW’s Motion To Dismiss for what it is: an effort 
to misdirect the court into not understanding that the misrepresentations and violations of 
statutes regulating the sale of cars, statutes that carry criminal penalties, are circumstantial 
evidence of 1) the fact that the misrepresentations were not a one-time error or mistake, as 
defendant will claim,  and 2) the criminal indifference to its civil obligations and disregard of 
Mrs. Victim’s rights exhibited by Richmond BMW.  

FACTS 
             In August, 2001, Mrs. Victim came to Richmond BMW looking for a BMW that 
was a one- or two-owner vehicle, priced around thirty thousand dollars.  When 
approached by a Richmond BMW salesman, she explained what she was interested in, 
and he stated that there was a BMW 528i that was in her price range, owned by one of 
the dealership’s managers, and that he might be willing to sell. (¶¶ 7, 14) 

 Mrs. Victim test-drove the vehicle and asked the salesman if the vehicle had ever 
been damaged or repaired due to an accident.   He stated that it had not been damaged 
or repaired and that it was in excellent condition. (¶¶ 8, 9) Mrs. Victim requested that 
the vehicle be inspected to confirm there were no problems.  The salesman assured her 
that any problems would be discovered, disclosed, and corrected.  (¶¶ 10, 11)  

Misrepresenting the Vehicle’s Title History 
 Mrs. Victim later met a man introduced to her as the current “owner” of the vehicle. 

 He  also raved about what a great car it was, saying it did not have any problems to 
worry about and that it had not been damaged or in an accident. (¶¶ 12, 13) Both this 
man, Mr. Alvis, and the salesman assured Mrs. Victim that Mr. Alvis was the only owner 
of the vehicle.  In truth, the vehicle had been sold new to Rochelle Millhiser, then sold to 
Richmond BMW.  Richmond BMW then leased the vehicle to Mr. Alvis and assigned the 
lease to Financial Services Vehicles Trust  (FSVT), which became the owner and title 
holder of the vehicle on April 20, 2000. (¶¶ 4, 5)  At the time of Mrs. Victim’s purchase of 
the vehicle, it was still owned by FSVT. (¶ 14)     Richmond BMW had not purchased it, 
nor had it  paid FSVT for the vehicle.  (¶¶ 28)   

By selling the vehicle without first having secured a certificate of title for it or without 
legally having possession of a certificate of title for the vehicle issued to its owner, 
Richmond BMW violated §46.2-617 of the Code of Virginia.  Richmond BMW also 
violated Virginia Code §46.2-1531 by not having a consignment contract with FSVT and 
not informing Mrs. Victim that the vehicle was being sold on consignment.  They 
violated §46.2-628 of the Code of Virginia by failing to deliver the certificate of title to 
Mrs. Victim at the time of delivering the motor vehicle. (¶¶ 22, 23, 25, 26)  In fact, title to 
the vehicle was not delivered or assigned to Richmond BMW by FSVT until sometime in 
October, 2001, over a month after Richmond BMW sold the vehicle to Mrs. Victim.  (¶ 
30) 

In addition, Richmond BMW violated federal and state law by not disclosing the 
vehicle’s mileage on the title.  (Code of Virginia §59.1-629, Code of Federal 
Regulations, 49 C.F.R. §580.5(c)) & (g)).  Instead, they had Mrs. Victim sign a separate 
document, called an Odometer Disclosure Form, which disclosed an odometer reading, 



 
 

but failed to disclose the prior ownership and mileage history.  (¶¶ 31, 32) 
Mrs. Victim mentions these criminal acts because they are evidence of malicious 

intent, or reckless disregard for purchaser’s like Mrs. Victim’s rights, and the extent to 
which Richmond BMW will go to deceive its customers and make a sale.   Plaintiff 
alleges that Richmond BMW intentionally withheld the title from her during the purchase 
transaction in order to hide the vehicle’s ownership history, because they knew that Mrs. 
Victim would not buy a car that had been leased.   (¶¶ 7, 14) 

 
 

Misrepresentations in the Financing 
In addition to the deception as to ownership of the vehicle, Richmond BMW 

discouraged Mrs. Victim from obtaining her own financing.  The salesman promised to 
get her a loan at the “best interest rate available,” and that the rate would be as good as 
or better than anything she could get herself since Richmond BMW deals with so many 
banks.  The finance manager reiterated that promise.   He also insisted that the vehicle 
was in excellent condition and encouraged Mrs. Victim to purchase a service contract. 
(¶¶ 15, 17, 18)  

“The best rate available” would be the rate at which BB&T, or another lender, was 
willing to lend the money, called the “Buy Rate.”  Plaintiff alleges that Richmond BMW 
actually inflated the Buy Rate without informing Mrs. Victim, and kept all or part of the 
difference. (¶¶ 45-47) So that, instead of procuring the “best rate available” to Mrs. 
Victim,, which obviously would be the lowest rate, Plaintiff alleges that Richmond BMW 
arranged the best rate available to them, essentially the rate that would afford 
Richmond BMW the highest kickback.   

Misrepresenting the Vehicle’s Condition 
The salesman, the individual presented as the vehicle’s only owner, and the finance 

manager each proclaimed the excellent condition of the vehicle to Mrs. Victim. (¶¶ 9, 12, 
18) However, Richmond BMW sold the vehicle to Mrs. Victim without even performing 
the safety inspection required by Virginia Code §46.2-1539. (¶¶ 55, 56)  

When Richmond BMW did perform the required inspection on August 30, 2001, 
after the sale to Mrs. Woodward, it found the vehicle to be in compliance with all safety 
inspection requirements, even though damage to the left rear suspension and sub 
frame should have prevented the vehicle from being found in compliance. (¶¶ 57)  

It was not until the vehicle failed inspection in October, 2002, that Mrs. Victim 
discovered Richmond BMW’s misrepresentation about the condition of the vehicle.  
During that inspection, Centerville Exxon discovered significant prior accident damage 
and informed Mrs. Victim that her vehicle was rejected due to that damage.  They also 
told her that the damage posed a safety concern. (¶ 59)  

The vehicle was unsafe to drive in the condition it was in when sold to Mrs. Victim, 
and, once it was rejected by the inspection station, Mrs. Victim did not drive the vehicle 
until it was repaired in May, 2003, and passed the safety inspection. (¶ 61)  

Misrepresenting the Service Contract 
The service contract supplied by Richmond BMW does not cover any loss or 

damage caused by accidents, although Richmond BMW represented that it would cover 



 
 

any problems the vehicle might have during the contract period.  As a result, when 
those problems were reported to the Service Contract company, repairs were refused 
and  Mrs. Victim was forced to pay for the repairs to the vehicle for problems that 
existed at the time she purchased it.  The cost of the repairs needed for the vehicle to 
pass inspection was significant.  Because of the prior wreck damage and repair history, 
the value of the vehicle at the time of purchase was significantly less than the price Mrs. 
Victim paid. (¶¶ 62, 63)   

Mrs. Victim would not have purchased the vehicle and the service contract if she 
had known the truth regarding the vehicle’s ownership history, its prior accident 
damage, its mechanical problems, or the repairs needed, and would not have financed 
the vehicle at the rate she agreed to had she known it was a rate inflated from the buy 
rate for which her loan had been approved by BB&T. (¶ 64)    

Misrepresentations about the federally required disclosures on the title 
In Paragraphs 31 through 39, Mrs. Victim sets out a series of misrepresentations 

made by Richmond BMW on the title documents.  First, at the time of the sale to Mrs. 
Victim on August 24, 2001, Richmond BMW was not the title owner of the vehicle, and 
thus did not have the title.  It used a Separate Odometer Disclosure Form and made 
what purported to be the required federal disclosures on that form.   

This separate form identified “Crown Richmond BMW” as the seller who was 
certifying that the vehicle “has been transferred” to Mrs. Victim.  Richmond BMW further 
certified “to the best of my knowledge” that on August 24, 2001, an odometer reading of 
41789 was the actual mileage on the car.  

Over a month later, the prior owner, FSVT, transferred the title to “Crown 
Automobiles of Richmond”, and it certified the mileage at the time of this transfer to be 
44,000 miles.  Neither of these parties identified the date of the transfer.   

After receiving the title, Richmond BMW then falsified a transfer on the back of the 
FSVT title.  This falsified transfer states that the title was then transferred to “Richmond 
BMW” on August 24, 2001, and certifies the mileage as 56,082. 

As alleged in Count III, Mrs. Victim identifies two separate violations of the Motor 
Vehicle Information and Cost Savings Act.  First, that Richmond BMW did not use the 
title itself as the document containing the disclosures.  (¶ 87).   Second, that Richmond 
BMW falsely certified the mileage on the document that it did use.   (¶ 88).  Mrs. Victim 
further alleges that these violations were done with intent to defraud.  (¶ 89).  

 
 
 

ARGUMENT 
 

THE MOTION TO DISMISS MUST BE DENIED BECAUSE THE COMPLAINT 
STATES A PROPER CLAIM FOR FRAUD AND THE MVICSA VIOLATIONS ARE 

SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS ALLEGED 
 

Under 12(b)(6) of the Rules of Federal Civil Procedure, Richmond BMW’s Motion to 
Dismiss can only be granted if there is no set of facts that would entitle Mrs. Victim to a 



 
 

verdict on the claims in issue. To file its Motion to Dismiss, Richmond BMW must accept 
the facts alleged in the Complaint as true. See Scheuer v. Rhoades, 416 U.S. 232, 236 
(1974); Puerto Rico ex. rel. Ouiros v. Alfred L. Snapp & Sons, 632 F.2d 365 (4th Cir. 1980). 
See also  Mylan Laboratories, Inc. v. Matkari, 7 F.3d 1130, 1134 (4th Cir. 1993). 

Furthermore, all reasonable inferences must be made in favor of Mrs. Victim. See 
Johnson v. Mueller, 415 F.2d 354 (4th Cir. 1969); MacKethan v. Peat. Marwick. Mitchell & 
Co., 439 F. Supp. 1090 (E.D. Va. 1977). No count can be dismissed unless it appears 
beyond a doubt that Mrs. Victim cannot recover under any set of facts which could be 
proven. See Doby v. Safeway Stores. Inc., 523 F. Supp. 1162 (E. D. Va. 1981); Austin v. 
Reynolds Metals Co., 327 F. Supp. 1145 (E. D. Va. 1970).  See also Rogers v. 
Jefferson-Pilot Life Ins. Co., 883 F.2d 324, 325 (4th Cir. 1989)(citing Conley v. Gibson, 355 
U.S. 41, 48 (1957)) (the purpose of pleading is to facilitate a proper decision on the merits, 
rather than base the outcome on procedural details).  Because each of Mrs. Victim’s claims 
are properly supported by alleged facts that would entitle her to judgment if true, the Motion 
to Dismiss must be denied. 

 
A. Assuming the Facts in the Complaint are True, Richmond BMW 

Committed Fraud. 
 

When Richmond BMW asserts that “There is no cause of action for violation of a 
criminal statute,” (page 2 of Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss) it reveals that it 
either has a profound misunderstanding of the claims made against it or has chosen to 
ignore the majority of the Complaint.  Mrs. Victim is not asserting that a breach of a criminal 
statute entitles her to civil relief.  Instead, she is offering the obvious breaches of statute, as 
evidenced by the documentary evidence of the transaction, as proof of Richmond BMW’s 
disregard of her rights under Virginia law and its intentional efforts to misrepresent the 
vehicle’s ownership, title history, condition, accident history, financing arrangements, and 
the coverage of the service contract, all done in order to accomplish Richmond BMW’s only 
goal of selling Mrs. Victim the car and service contract they wanted to sell her, at the price 
they wanted to sell it at, with the financing that profited them best.   

Plaintiff has alleged facts sufficient to conclude that Richmond BMW intentionally 
and knowingly committed fraud.  In claims for fraud a plaintiff must allege: (1) a false 
representation, (2) of material fact, (3) made intentionally and knowingly, (4) with intent to 
mislead, (5) that was relied on by the party misled, (6) resulting in damage to the plaintiff.  
Van Deusen v. Snead, 247 Va. 324, 441 S.E.2d 207, 209 (1994).  Mrs. Victim has clearly 
pled these six elements.   

The facts alleged, which must be taken as true for the purposes of its motion to 
dismiss,  establish that Richmond BMW represented to the Plaintiff that a damaged vehicle 
was undamaged, that the interest rate Richmond BMW offered her was the best available, 
that the service contract would cover necessary repairs, that the vehicle had had only one 
owner, and that Richmond BMW did not receive any part of the finance charge.  (¶¶ 9-15)  
Those representations were false, and Richmond BMW  knew them to be false.  (¶¶ 9, 12-
14, 17, 24, 27, 29, 40, 42, 44-50, 54, 55, 62)  Richmond BMW made the 
misrepresentations with the intent of persuading Mrs. Victim to purchase the vehicle and 



 
 

the service contract and to finance the transaction through them.  (¶¶ 54, 57, 62, 69, 76, 83, 
84, 87-89)  The misrepresentations were material, and Mrs. Victim relied on those 
misrepresentations, in that the she would not have purchased the vehicle or agreed to the 
financing offered  if those representations had not been made. (¶¶ 10, 14, 64, 80). 
Furthermore, the concealment and omission of material information about the ownership 
history, prior damage to the vehicle, and the yield spread premium were deliberate 
omissions. (¶¶ 14, 15, 24, 31, 54, 62, 71, 75, 80, 83-84, 89)  The Plaintiff subsequently 
suffered actual damages in the loss of value to the vehicle and consequential and incidental 
damages, including but not  limited to loss of use,  annoyance, and   inconvenience. (¶¶ 6, 
64, 69).  Therefore, Richmond BMW’s assertion, in Part B. (pages 3, 4) of its memorandum 
in support of its motion to dismiss, that Mrs. Victim suffered no injury is incorrect.   

Of course, Defendant’s entire argument in Part B. (pages 3, 4) is an attempt to 
misdirect the court through a discussion of an imagined claim of breach of warranty of title. 
 As Richmond BMW says, Plaintiff does not state a claim for “breach of warranty of title,” 
she states a claim for fraud in misrepresenting the ownership and title history of the vehicle 
in order to induce her into buying it.  Further, Defendant’s apparent purpose in inventing 
this claim is then to say that Plaintiff was required to inform Richmond BMW of the “breach 
of warranty of title” within a reasonable time.  Even if the cited statute did apply, the 
“reasonable time” to notify the seller of a breach is “within a reasonable time after [the 
buyer] discovers or should have discovered any breach” (Code of Virginia §8.2-607(3)), 
which is a question for the trier of fact after full consideration of the particular facts of the 
case.  See discussion of when a cause of action for fraud accrues, infra at D, page. 

Similarly, Defendant’s discussion of the service contract on page 5 of the 
memorandum in support of the motion to dismiss is pure misdirection.  Richmond BMW 
seems to claim that, because Plaintiff was not prevented from reading the service contract, 
she should be charged with knowing what it says.  But Plaintiff did know what it said: it said 
that repairs would be done under warranty for the duration of the service contract, and that 
preexisting damage would not be covered.  What she didn’t know, what Richmond BMW 
intentionally kept from her, was that there was extensive prior accident damage that she 
would have to pay to repair.  

The Supreme Court of Virginia has held:  
[f]or purposes of an action for fraud, concealment, whether 
accomplished by word or conduct, may be the equivalent of a false 
representation, because concealment always involves deliberate 
nondisclosure designed to prevent another from learning the truth. A 
contracting party's willful nondisclosure of a material fact that he 
knows is unknown to the other party may evince an intent to practice 
actual fraud. Van Deusen, 247 Va. at 328, 441 S.E.2d at 209 (quoting 
Spence, 236 Va. at 28, 372 S.E.2d at 598-99)(emphasis added).  
Therefore, we have required either allegation or evidence of a 
knowing and a deliberate decision not to disclose a material fact.  
Norris, et al. v. Mitchell, et al. 255 Va. 235, 240; 495 S.E. 2d 809, 812 
(1998). 

 



 
 

In the instant case, the Plaintiff has alleged knowing and deliberate decisions not to 
disclose the prior damage to the vehicle, the fact that Richmond BMW received a part of 
the cost of the financing, and the availability of a lower interest rate. (¶¶ 6, 7, 10-12, 19-24, 
28, 42-44, 48, 49, 53-56)  Richmond BMW’s misrepresentations about the condition of the 
vehicle and the interest rate were not mere “puffery”; they were intentional and material 
misrepresentations of facts, as opposed to opinion, intended to mislead and to induce the 
Plaintiff or people like her to purchase the vehicle. (¶¶ 10, 12, 38)  Alternately, Richmond 
BMW should have reasonably known that their misrepresentations, silence, and 
concealment of these facts were material, would mislead, and would be likely to induce 
such action by Plaintiff or people like her.  As such, the misrepresentations were 
unconscionable and constituted actual malice or a reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s rights, 
and therefore constituted actual fraud, or were done negligently and therefore constituted 
constructive fraud.   

Further, Richmond BMW’s fraud negates any disclaimers in the contracts she 
agreed to, including the service contract.  Packard Norfolk v. Miller, 198 Va. 557, 95 S.E.2d 
207 (1956). Because of Richmond BMW’s fraud there was never a binding contract.  There 
was no meeting of the minds. Mrs. Victim thought she was buying a service contract to 
cover future repairs for a car that was at present unwrecked and in good condition.  
Richmond BMW knew differently.  See also Robberecht v. Maitland Bros. 220 Va. 109 
(1979) (if an “as is” sale contract is induced by fraud, parole evidence of fraud is 
admissible, and rescission or damages are recoverable, notwithstanding contract's “as is” 
language). When a party is induced to enter a contract by fraud, he can affirm the contract 
and still sue for damages for fraud.  Affirmance is not a waiver.  Millboro Lumber Co. v. 
Augusta Wood Products Corp., 140 Va. 421, 125 S.E. 306 (1924); Atlantic Purchasers Inc. 
v. Aircraft Sales, 705 F2d 712, (4th Cir. 1982).  The disclaimer in the contract itself is no 
defense since the contract is irrelevant due to the fraud that induced it.  Thus, the provision 
in the service contract denying coverage of prior damage is meaningless in light of 
Richmond BMW’s misrepresentation that the vehicle had no prior accident damage made 
to induce Mrs. Victim to purchase the service contract.   

 
B. Mrs. Victim properly states a claim for violation of the Motor Vehicle 

Information and Cost Savings Act. 
 
Richmond BMW’s  attack on Mrs. Victim’s Motor Vehicle Information and Cost 

Savings Act (MVICSA) is groundless for two different reasons.  First, it falsely states 
that the MVICSA contains a reliance element.  Second, it ignores the substantial 
allegations of wrongdoing directed against it.  Because Mrs. Victim has alleged that 
Richmond BMW committed serious violations of the MVICSA with intent to defraud, her 
claim is proper and should not be dismissed.     

  
  1. As recognized by the Fourth Circuit, the MVISCA “intent to   
defraud element” does not contain a reliance element. 
 
Contrary to Richmond BMW’s claim, the MVICSA does not require proof of 



 
 

damages caused by reliance on a seller’s MVICSA violation.  Pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 
32710, a civil action may be brought by a private person to enforce Chapter 327 of the 
MVICSA.  According to the words of Congress, only two elements are required for the 
recovery of statutory damages.  “A person that violates this chapter or a regulation 
prescribed or order issued under this chapter, with intent to defraud, is liable for 3 times 
the actual damages or $1,500.00, whichever is greater.” 49 U.S.C. § 32701(a). The two 
elements are simple: a violation, done with intent to defraud.  The statute does not state 
that reliance is required, does not state that causation is required, and does not state 
that damages are required.   

The reason that the MVICSA does not require reliance is because it is a remedial 
consumer protection statute.  “The statute is obviously remedial in nature, and should 
be broadly construed to effectuate its purpose.” Ryan v. Edwards, 592 F.2d 756, 760 
(4th Cir. 1979)(relying on Tcherepnin v. Knight, 389 U.S. 332, 336 (1967).   “[U]nless a 
violation of the Act can lead to civil liability the Act is toothless.” Nieto v. Pence, 578 
F.2d 640, 643 (5th Cir. 1978) (explaining why private actions are the most important 
means of enforcing the Act’s requirements).  To recover under the Act, one need not 
prove that anyone was actually harmed, but that the violator acted with intent to 
defraud. Delay v. Hearn Ford, 373 F. Supp. 791, 796 (D.S.C. 1974)(“To construe the 
statute to require actual damage to the purchaser would effectively gut the statute of its 
alternative remedy.”)   

In Ryan, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals approvingly cited Delay, and 
properly refused to inject a reliance element into this statute.  Regarding the prior 
codification of the statute, it held, 

 [n]or does the statute's language require the plaintiff to prove his reliance on 
each false statement. Delay v. Hearn Ford, 373 F. Supp. 791 (D.S.C.1974). The 
dispositive finding is the transferor's intent to defraud, and Ryan may recover 
the statutory damages from each transferor in his chain of title who made  false 
mileage statements with such intent.   

592 F.2d 756, 761-2.  The Fourth Circuit’s decision recognizes the simple truth of our 
government’s fundamental organization; the judicial system is not the legislative branch. 
 Consequently, if a defendant wants to introduce a reliance element into the statute, it 
must approach Congress rather than the a federal judge. 

Under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Mrs. Victim has properly stated a 
claim that Richmond BMW violated the MVICSA.  Under Rule 8(a)(2) of the Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure, “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the 
pleader is entitled to relief.”  Consequently, when faced with a 12(b)(6) Motion, a court 
"must determine whether allegations covering all the elements that comprise the theory 
for relief have been stated as required." Estate Constr. Co. v. Miller & Smith Holding 
Co., 14 F.3d 213, 220 (4th Cir. 1994) (internal quotation marks omitted) (citing United 
States v. Employing Plasterers Ass'n, 347 U.S. 186, 189, (1954).  Under the notice 
pleading rule, a plaintiff’s complaint is sufficient when it alleges facts about each 
required element. See Dickson v. Ebert, 309 F.3d 193, 213 (4th Cir. 2002)(citing 
Swierkiewicz v. Sorema, N.A., 534 U.S. 506,(2002) and Iodice v. United States, 289 
F.3d 270, 281 (4th Cir. 2002)).  Finally, “the intent, knowledge, and other condition of 



 
 

mind of a person may be averred generally.”  Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure.   Given that 49 U.S.C. § 32710(a) requires only “a violation” done with 
“intent to defraud,” Plaintiffs’ allegations sufficiently state a claim even if she does not 
allege reliance or damages.   

Richmond BMW improperly asks this Court to dismiss Mrs. Victim’s valid 
MVICSA claim.  Without any citation to the statute, Richmond BMW falsely states that 
the MVICSA “does not impose liability for technical mistakes, but only in cases in which 
a buyer is misled by a seller with intent to defraud.”  Based on this false assertion, it 
then complains that Mrs. Victim never alleges “that she was misled as to the actual 
mileage of the vehicle in a way that induced the purchase based on a false mileage 
disclosure.”  Although this sentence may be grammatically correct, it has no legal 
significance to a Motion to Dismiss.  Because the statute has neither a reliance nor a 
damages element, the absence of such an allegation provides no basis to dismiss the 
claim.   

Mrs. Victim respectfully requests that this Court refuse to judicially alter the 
statute, refuse to overrule the Fourth Circuit, and refuse Richmond BMW’s request to 
dismiss her MVICSA claim. 

 
2. Mrs. Victim has alleged two different violations of the MVICSA   
 that are sufficient to impose liability on Richmond BMW. 

 
a. Richmond BMW violated the MVICSA by certifying false   
odometer disclosures. 

 
Mrs. Victim has properly alleged that Richmond BMW repeatedly certified false 

odometer readings in violation of the MVICSA.  As shown by the title documents, 
Richmond BMW created the following disclosures: 

44,000 miles when the car was transferred to it from FSVA; 
56,082 miles on August 24, 2001, in a transfer to itself; and 
41,789 miles on August 24, 2001, when it delivered the car to Mrs. Victim. 

Richmond BMW thus certified, to the best of its knowledge, that the car’s odometer was 
accurate on August 24, 2001 when it read 56,082, and accurate when it read 41,879.  It 
also has created an official title history that shows the car to have had 44,000 miles 
when Richmond BMW received it, and then 41,789 when Richmond BMW sold it.  On 
their face, these disclosures are impossible and, as part of the official chain of title for 
the car, their falsity make it impossible for the odometer itself to be trusted.      

Richmond BMW’s Motion to Dismiss claims that these false disclosures are “the 
merest technicalities” and that Mrs. Victim must allege “tampering with the odometer or 
fraudulently manipulating the odometer.”  On the contrary, the Fourth Circuit has 
already explained that the accurate disclosure requirement of the MVICSA is distinct 
from its anti-tampering provisions. Ryan, 592 F.2d 756, 760.  In reversing the trial court, 
it stated “[t]he district court apparently interpreted the statute as being concerned only 
with odometer tampering, an offense which is not alleged here. Although §§ 1983-85 of 
the statute deal with odometer tampering, the tampering prohibition and the mileage 



 
 

statement requirement are two separate methods of achieving the goal of full 
disclosure.” Id.at n.4.  Consequently, the false certifications by Richmond BMW are not 
mere technical violations, but are instead the very type of violation on which liability may 
be established.   

Mrs. Victim’s MVICSA claim must be allowed to go forward because she has 
alleged that Richmond BMW’s violated the statute by making false certifications.  
Richmond BMW’s claim that its disclosure violations are “the merest technicalities” is as 
patently false as are its certifications about the odometer reading.  Furthermore, these 
disclosures have created substantial harm to Mrs. Victim because the lack of accurate 
certifications in the chain of title now prohibits her from certifying the odometer to any 
future purchaser. 

 
b. Richmond BMV violated the MVICSA by not making the 
 required disclosures on the title.     

 
In addition to its false certifications, Richmond BMW also violated the MVICSA by 

not making its certification to Mrs. Victim on the title to the car.  In doing so, it concealed 
the car’s ownership history, concealed that it did not have title to the car at the time of 
sale, concealed its own improper conduct in accepting an incomplete disclosure from 
the prior owner, and concealed the false odometer certification made by the prior owner. 
 Additionally, as part of using the wrong document, it created a false disclosure where it 
violated the MVICSA by identifying itself as both the buyer and the seller in the same 
transaction.  As shown below, the title-placement requirement of the MVICSA is as 
important as other requirements of the statute, and Mrs. Victim’s claim must be allowed 
to go forward. 

The MVICSA provides, in pertinent part:  
 
(a) Disclosure requirements.–  
 

(1) Under regulations prescribed by the Secretary of Transportation 
that include the way in which information is disclosed and retained under this 
section, a person transferring ownership of a motor vehicle shall give the 
transferee the following written disclosure-- 

 
(A) Disclosure of the cumulative mileage registered on the 
odometer; or 

 
(B) Disclosure that the mileage is unknown, if the transferor 
knows the odometer reading is different from the number of 
miles the vehicle has actually traveled.  

 
(2) A person transferring ownership of a motor vehicle may not violate 

a regulation prescribed under this section or give a false statement to the 
transferee in making the disclosure required by such regulation. 



 
 

 
(3) A person acquiring a motor vehicle for resale may not accept a 

disclosure under this section unless it is complete. 
 
49 U.S.C. § 32705.   

 
Pursuant to the regulations required by 49 U.S.C. § 32705(a), the process for 

“the way in which information is to be disclosed” is detailed in 49 C.F.R. § 580 et seq.  
These regulations  provide: 
 

(c)  In connection with the transfer of ownership of a motor vehicle, each 
transferor shall disclose the mileage to the transferee in writing on the title or, 
except as noted below, on the document being used to reassign the title. In 
the case of a transferor in whose name the vehicle is titled, the transferor 
shall disclose the mileage on the title, and not on a reassignment document.  
This written disclosure must be signed by the transferor, including the printed 
name. In connection with the transfer of ownership of a motor vehicle in 
which more than one person is a transferor, only one transferor need sign the 
written disclosure. In addition to the signature and printed name of the 
transferor, the written disclosure must contain the following information:  

 
(1)  The odometer reading at the time of transfer (not to include tenths 
of miles); 
(2)  The date of transfer; 
(3)  The transferor's name and current address; 
(4)  The transferee's name and current address; and 
(5)  The identity of the vehicle, including its make, model, year, and 
body type, and its vehicle identification number. 

 
(d)  In addition to the information provided under paragraph (c) of this 
section, the statement shall refer to the Federal law and shall state that 
failure to complete or providing false information may result in fines and/or 
imprisonment. Reference may also be made to applicable State law.  
 
(e)  In addition to the information provided under paragraphs (c) and (d) of 
this section,  
 

(1)  The transferor shall certify that to the best of his knowledge the 
odometer reading reflects the actual mileage, or;  
 
(2)  If the transferor knows that the odometer reading reflects the 
amount of mileage in excess of the designed mechanical odometer 
limit, he shall include a statement to that effect; or  
 



 
 

(3)  If the transferor knows that the odometer reading differs from the 
mileage and that the difference is greater than that caused by 
odometer calibration error, he shall include a statement that the 
odometer reading does not reflect the actual mileage, and should not 
be relied upon. This statement shall also include a warning notice to 
alert the transferee that a discrepancy exists between the odometer 
reading and the actual mileage.  
 

(f)  The transferee shall sign the disclosure statement, print his name, and 
return a copy to his transferor. 
 
(g)  If the vehicle has not been titled or if the title does not contain a space for 
the information required, the written disclosure shall be executed as a 
separate document.  
 
(h)  No person shall sign an odometer disclosure statement as both the 
transferor and transferee in the same transaction, unless permitted by §§ 
580.13  or 580.14… 

 
49 C.F.R. § 580.5. 
 

The title-placement requirement was created in 1986 amendments to the statute 
because of car dealer abuse of separate odometer forms.  It is written as a prohibition 
on state’s processing any title transfer unless the proper document is used for the 
required disclosures. See 49 U.S.C. § 32705(b).  When Congress recognized the frauds 
that were being perpetrated by sellers giving odometer disclosures that did not 
necessarily become part of the record chain of title of a car, it created the “placement” 
requirement .  

Congress intentionally restricted the location of the disclosures and knew it was 
creating a new statutory duty.  The legislative history states that the title-placement 
amendment to statute “makes it unlawful for any person to transfer ownership of a 
vehicle unless that person enters on a form prescribed by the Secretary or as 
prescribed by state law, the mileage said motor vehicle has been operated.” S. Rep. No. 
92-413, reprinted in 1972 U.S.C.C.A.N., 3960, 3971.  Congress amended the Federal 
Odometer Act  in 1986 to require that the odometer disclosure be on the title. S. Rep. 
No. 99-47, at 1-2 (1986), reprinted in 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N., 5620, 5621.  One purpose of 
the amendment was “to preserve records that are needed for the proper investigation of 
possible violations of the Motor Vehicle Information and Cost Savings Act and any 
subsequent prosecutorial, adjudicative or other action.” 49 C.F.R. § 580.2.  Also, “[t]he 
central purpose of [the statute] is to make the title document the sole vehicle for 
odometer disclosures, thereby completing a years-long movement among the States 
toward the use of the title for disclosure.” See Supplementary Information to 1991 Final 
Rule, 56 Fed. Reg. 47,681, 47,684 (1991).  Congress chose the title as the only place 
for the disclosures because “using a separate document for odometer disclosure, which 



 
 

had been common in the early days of the Federal odometer law, had been shown to be 
too vulnerable to abuse.” Id.   

With this placement amendment, Congress gave the statute a second “central 
purpose” of ensuring that all disclosures for every transaction would necessarily be part 
of the title record for every car.   The title- placement requirement creates records that 
can be used in prosecuting Federal Odometer Act crimes, see e.g,. United States v. 
Townsend, 796 F.2d 158 (6th Cir. 1986), and the title documents in the chain of title are 
also to be used by car dealers to check the odometer disclosures from previous sales. 
See Oettinger v. Lakeview Motors, 657 F. Supp. 1488, 1495 (E.D. Va. 1988).  
Furthermore, requiring the odometer disclosure on the title protects the purchaser by 
providing information about the odometer disclosures from previous transfers. See 
Supplementary Information to Proposed Revisions of Odometer Disclosure 
Requirements, 52 Fed. Reg. 27,022, 27,025, July 17, 1987 (stating that not providing 
odometer disclosure on title documents to purchaser “would defeat the purpose of the 
Act”).  Thus, the placement requirement was created by Congress to give to all 
purchasers the information that would be shown on the title document presented to 
them that contained the odometer disclosure. 

Except for few situations, the Congress requires a car dealer to provide odometer 
disclosures directly on the title for each car it sells. See 49 C.F.R. § 580.17.  For each 
vehicle transfer, the title showing the transfer must include “a statement, signed and 
dated by the transferor, of the mileage disclosure” required by the Act. 49 U.S.C. § 
32705(b)(1).  This placement requirement is the only statutorily permissible procedure 
for making the odometer disclosure to the purchaser. Under 49 U.S.C. § 32705(a)(1), 
every transferor of a motor vehicle must make an accurate written odometer disclosure 
to the transferee.  A dealer may not choose to make this disclosure just anywhere 
because it must be placed on the title to the vehicle being transfer. 49 U.S.C. § 
32705(b)(1).  Thus, Congress not only required accurate odometer disclosures, it also 
required that the transfer of ownership be accompanied by the title bearing the 
odometer disclosure. S. Rep. 99-47, at 5 (1986). 

Pursuant to the statute, the regulations implementing the Act therefore require 
the odometer disclosure to be placed on the vehicle’s title documents.  The requirement 
is unmistakeable; “with the transfer of ownership of a motor vehicle, each transferor 
shall disclose the mileage to the transferee in writing on the title or, except as noted 
below, on the documents being used to reassign the vehicle.” 49 C.F.R. § 580.5(c).  
Most importantly to this case, if there is space on the title, the transferor may not use a 
separate document to make its odometer disclosures. 49 C.F.R. § 580.5(g). Therefore, 
a seller violates the statute if it does not make the odometer disclosure on the title 
document if there is space on the title document to do so.  

Mrs. Victim has properly alleged the Richmond BMW violated the statute by not 
using the required title as the document to make the disclosures to her.  This violation 
allowed it to misrepresent the ownership history, and conceal odometer discrepancies.  
This violation included accepting an incomplete disclosure from FSVT in violation of 48 
U.S.C. § 32705(a)(3), creating a false disclosure with itself as both transferor and 
transferee in violation of  49 C.F.R. § 580.5(h).  A car dealer who violates this 



 
 

placement-requirement with intent to defraud is subject to liability under the statute. See 
Yazzie v. Amigo Chevrolet, Inc., 189 F. Supp. 2d 1245, 1247 (D. N.M. 2001).  As 
explained by Yazzie,  

[t]hese provisions obviously intend to protect the accuracy and 
consistency of the information and to foreclose the possibility that 
odometer information is altered intentionally or negligently when title is 
transferred.  It makes no sense to require that an accurate odometer 
reading be included on every certificate of title before transfer can take 
place and to limit very strictly when and what alternatives may be 
employed to transfer odometer information, but at the same time, allow a 
transferor to withhold a valid certificate of title containing odometer 
information, not at any time permitting a new buyer to see the disclosures 
contained there. 

 Id.; see also  Salmeron v. Highland Ford Sales, 223 F. Supp. 2d 1238, 1244 (D. N.M. 
2002). 

Because Mrs. Victim has properly alleged that Richmond BMW violated the title-
placement requirement, Therefore, no grounds exist to dismiss this aspect of the claim. 
  

 
CONCLUSION 

When the facts alleged in the Complaint are accepted as true, the claims against 
Richmond BMW for fraud, violation of the VCPA, and violation of the MVICSA are 
established.  In addition, Defendant’s assertion that plaintiff’s fraud claims are time-barred 
is a question for the finder of fact after a full evidentiary hearing.  Accordingly, none of Mrs. 
Victim’s claims should be dismissed, and Richmond BMW’s Motion to Dismiss should be 
denied. 

To the extent that this Court believes that any claim is not sufficiently alleged, Mrs. 
Victim respectfully respects permission to amend his Complaint. 

 
          Aggrieved J. Victim 



 

SAMPLE WAY TO PIN THE DEALER DOWN ON ITS TESTIMONY 
 
 

 
REPLY BRIEF TO DEFENDANT’S OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION  

FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
 

As fully set out below, Haley’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ 
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment raises no genuine issue of 
material fact regarding its violation of the Truth in Lending Act 
(TILA).  Accordingly, summary judgment is properly entered as 
requested by Plaintiffs.   
 

 ARGUMENT 
 
HALEY RAISED NO ISSUE OF FACT PERTINENT TO ITS TILA VIOLATION OF 
NOT PROVIDING A COPY OF THE DISCLOSURES PRIOR TO CONSUMMATION 
 
A. Haley may not contradict by affidavit its previous testimony 

by a corporate designee about its practices for delivering 
TILA disclosures. 

 
1. Because Haley was required to bring knowledgeable people 

to offer its position about the matters in the 30(b)(6)  
deposition notice, it may not contradict that testimony. 

 
To find out Haley’s position regarding delivery of the TILA 

disclosures, Plaintiffs first sent out Interrogatory No. 24 which 
asked for the basis for its claim that it did not violate the TILA. 
 Haley responded that its investigation was ongoing and provided no 
facts.  After Haley had further time to investigate this matter, 
Plaintiffs sent the Rule 30 (b) (6) Notice of Deposition which 
asked Haley to send someone prepared to testify about its training 
 provided to employees about compliance with the TILA.  Plaintiffs 
also asked for a person knowledgeable about the answers to the 
previous discovery. 

Once served with this 30b(6) deposition notice, the defendant 
had the duty to produce people prepared to give complete,  
knowledgeable and binding answers on behalf of the corporation. See 
Marker v. Union Fidelity Life Ins. Co., 125 F.R.D. 121, 126 
(M.D.N.C. 1989).  This requirement avoids the difficulties 
encountered by both sides when the examining party is unable to 
determine who within the corporation would be best able to provide 
the information sought, to avoid the "bandying" by corporations 
where individual officers disclaim knowledge of facts clearly known 
to the corporation, and to assist corporations from having an 
unnecessarily large number of their officers and agents being 



 

deposed.  Rule 30(b)(6) gives the corporation being deposed more 
control by allowing  it to designate and prepare a witness to 
testify on the corporation's behalf. See United States v. Taylor, 
166 F.R.D. 356, 360 (1996) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(b)(6) 
advisory committee's note).   

The testimony obtained at a Rule 30 (b)(6) deposition represents 
the knowledge of the corporation, and that knowledge appears 
vicariously through the designee.  Thus, the duty to present and 
prepare a Rule 30(b)(6) designee goes beyond matters personally 
known to that designee or to matters in which that designee was 
personally involved.  Taylor, 166 F.R.D., at 360. (citing Buycks-
Roberson v. Citibank Federal Sav. Bank, 162 F.R.D. 338, 343 (N.D. 
Ill. 1995); S.E.C. v. Morelli, 143 F.R.D. 42, 45 (S.D.N.Y. 1992)). 
 Consequently, instead of personal opinions, the Rule 30(b)(6) 
designee presents the corporation's "position" on the topic. 
Taylor, 166 F.R.D. at 361; (citing U.S. v. Massachusetts Indus. 
Finance Agency, 162 F.R.D. 410, 412 (D. Mass. 1995); Lapenna v. 
Upjohn Co., 110 F.R.D. 15, 21 (E.D. Pa. 1986)).  Moreover, the 
designee must not only testify about facts within the corporation's 
knowledge, but also its subjective beliefs and opinions. Lapenna, 
110 F.R.D. at 20.  Furthermore, the corporation must provide its 
interpretation of documents and events.  Taylor, 166 F.R.D. at 361. 

By using a 30(b)(6) deposition, a party is able to learn what a 
corporation’s position will be at trial.  The designee, in essence, 
represents the corporation just as an individual represents him or 
herself at a deposition.  Were it otherwise, a corporation would be 
able to deceitfully select at trial the most convenient answer 
presented by a number of fingerpointing witnesses at the 
depositions.   Taylor, 166 F.R.D. at 361. 

Unfortunately, in this case, the defendant now claims to have 
utterly failed to prepare its designee on one of the critical 
subject matters listed in the Rule 30(b)(6) deposition notice.  At 
the Rule 30 (b)(6) deposition of the defendant on August 24, 2000, 
Mr. Fisher testified that he knew the practices regarding delivery 
of the TILA disclosures.  After his testimony was used in 
Plaintiffs’ Summary Judgment Motion, he now claims that he did not 
make any investigation as to Haley’s practices to comply with the 
TILA.  By affidavit, he wants to now contradict his deposition 
testimony. 

Haley thus admits that it failed to meet its duty to provide a 
designee who it had prepared to give complete, knowledgeable and 
binding answers on behalf of the corporation on one of the most 
critical issues in this case.  Compare Marker v. Union Fidelity 
Life Ins. Co., 125 F.R.D. at 126.   Rule 30 (b)(6) plainly states 
that persons designated as corporate designees “shall testify as to 
matters known or reasonably available to the organization.” Fed. R. 
Civ. P. 30 (b)(6).  The defendant could have provided its new 
testimony at the deposition, but that would have exposed itself to 
further questions about its alleged practice.  



 

As the court in Taylor noted, the corporation has a duty to 
prepare its Rule 30(b)(6) designee to the extent matters are 
reasonably available, whether from documents, past employees, or 
other sources.  Taylor, 166 F.R.D. at 361.  The purpose behind Rule 
30(b)(6)’s requirement that a corporation must prepare witnesses it 
to prevent “sandbagging” or trial by ambush. Taylor, 166 F.R.D. at 
362; Rainey v. American Forest And Paper Association, Inc., 26 F. 
Supp.2d  82, 95 (D. D.C.  1998).  In other words, the Rule aims to 
prevent a corporate defendant from thwarting inquiries during 
discovery, then staging an ambush during a later stage in the case. 
 Yet this is precisely what the defendant attempts to do with its 
new affidavit testimony. 

The court in U.S v. Taylor, 166 F.R.D. at 362-63, explained why 
a party may not present evidence or argue facts that go beyond its 
30(b)(6) contentions: 
 

If a corporation has knowledge or a position as to a set of 
alleged facts or an area of inquiry, it is its officers, 
employees, agents or others who must present the position, 
give reasons for the position, and, more importantly, stand 
subject to cross-examination. A party's trial attorney 
normally does not fit that bill. Therefore, if a party 
states it has no knowledge or position as to a set of 
alleged facts or area of inquiry at a Rule 30(b)(6) 
deposition, it cannot argue for a contrary position at trial 
without introducing evidence explaining the reasons for the 
change.  Otherwise, it is the attorney who is giving 
evidence, not the party.... 

       
(emphasis added)(citations removed). 

The defendant gave clear testimony in response to unambiguous 
questions at its 30(b)(6) deposition where it was required to 
produce informed people to respond to the specified areas.  The 
delivery of the TILA disclosures was raised as one of the only two 
TILA issues in the case, (Paragraph 18 and 28 of the Complaint), 
and Haley’s TILA procedures were asked about by Interrogatory and 
were specified in the 30(b)(6) notice.  To avoid the necessary 
result of its testimony, its attorney now wants to present a 
different set of facts.   Furthermore, the new affidavit makes 
clear that Haley wants to present other undisclosed evidence at 
trial on this point. Such testimony must not be allowed or the 
purpose behind Rule 30 (b)(6) will be eviscerated.  Litigants must 
be given an incentive to diligently abide by this rule otherwise 
discovery and the trial itself will be prolonged, and truth will 
suffer. See Taylor, 166 F.R.D. at 361.  

Therefore, Haley is bound by the deposition of its corporate 
designee and may not now change it.  Accordingly, Mr. Fisher’s 
affidavit raises no new issues of fact about when the TILA 
disclosures were delivered. 



 

 
2. After receiving Plaintiffs’ summary judgment, Haley is 

not allowed to contradict by affidavit its previous 
deposition testimony. 

 
The Fourth Circuit does not allow a party to avoid summary 

judgment by submitting affidavits that contradict deposition 
testimony. See Rohrbough v. Wyeth Laboratories, Inc., 916 F.2d 970, 
975 (4th Cir. 1990).  In Rohrburgh, the Court analyzed an affidavit 
statements that appeared to raise a material issue of fact, and 
stated, 

This statement alone would appear to defeat defendant's 
motion for summary judgment unless, as the district court 
found, Dr. Cox's affidavit is in such conflict with his 
earlier deposition testimony that the affidavit should be 
disregarded as a sham issue of fact.   

   
In Barwick v. Celotex Corp., 736 F.2d 946 (4th Cir. 
1984), this court considered a situation in which a 
plaintiff, when faced with a summary judgment motion, 
submitted an affidavit that contradicted his prior sworn 
deposition testimony: 

    "If a party who has been examined at length on 
deposition could raise an issue of fact simply 
by submitting an affidavit contradicting his 
own prior testimony, this would greatly 
diminish the utility of summary judgment as a 
procedure for screening out sham issues of 
fact." A genuine issue of material fact is not 
created where the only issue of fact is to 
determine which of the two conflicting 
versions of the plaintiff's testimony is 
correct.     

 
 Barwick, 736 F.2d at 960 (citations omitted) 

916 F.2d at 975 (emphasis added).  The Court then determined that 
the affidavit that contradicted the doctor’s prior deposition 
testimony raised no issue of fact. 

When an affidavit is supplied to contradict earlier deposition 
testimony after a motion for summary judgment is filed, it should 
be disregarded. See Colantuoni v. Calcagni & Sons, Inc., 44 F.3d 1, 
5 (1st Cir 1994); see also Lescs v Dow Chemical Co. 976 F. Supp. 
393, 399 (W.D. Va. 1997).  The deposition testimony is inherently 
more reliable because it is adverserial in nature and provides the 
opportunity for cross-examination. See Darnell v. Target Stores 16 
F.3d 174, 176 (7th Cir. 1994); Snowden v. Woodington Corp, 963 F. 
Supp 526, 529-30 (E.D. Va. 1997).  



 

As recognized by the United States Supreme Court in Cleveland v. 
Policy Mgmt. Systems. Corp., 526 U.S. 795, 806 (1999), the federal 
courts only allow a contradictory affidavit when a proper 
explanation is provided.  

The lower courts, in somewhat comparable circumstances, 
have found a similar need for explanation. They have held 
with virtual unanimity that a party cannot create a 
genuine issue of fact sufficient to survive summary 
judgment simply by contradicting his or her own previous 
sworn statement (by, say, filing a later affidavit that 
flatly contradicts that party's earlier sworn deposition) 
without explaining the contradiction or attempting to 
resolve the disparity. See, e.g.,  Colantuoni v. Alfred 
Calcagni & Sons, Inc., 44 F.3d 1, 5 (CA1 1994); Rule v. 
Brine, Inc., 85 F.3d  1002, 1011 (CA2 1996); Hackman v. 
Valley Fair, 932 F.2d 239, 241 (CA3 1991); Barwick v. 
Celotex Corp., 736 F.2d 946, 960 (CA4 1984); Albertson v. 
T. J. Stevenson & Co., 749 F.2d 223, 228 (CA5 1984); 
Davidson & Jones Development Co. v. Elmore Development 
Co., 921 F.2d 1343, 1352 (CA6 1991); Slowiak v. Land 
O'Lakes, Inc., 987 F.2d 1293, 1297 (CA7 1993); Camfield 
Tires, Inc. v. Michelin Tire Corp., 719 F.2d 1361, 1365-
1366 (CA8 1983); Kennedy v. Allied Mutual Ins. Co., 952 
F.2d 262, 266 (CA9 1991); Franks v. Nimmo, 796 F.2d 1230, 
1237 (CA10 1986); Tippens v. Celotex Corp., 805 F.2d 949, 
953-954 (CA11 1986); Pyramid Securities Ltd. v. IB 
Resolution, Inc., 288 U.S. App. D.C. 157, 924 F.2d 1114, 
1123 (CADC), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 822, 116 L. Ed. 2d 
57, 112 S. Ct. 85 (1991); Sinskey v. Pharmacia 
Ophthalmics, Inc., 982 F.2d 494, 498 (CA Fed. 1992), 
cert. denied, 508 U.S. 912, 124 L. Ed. 2d 256, 113 S. Ct. 
2346 (1993). Although these cases for the most part 
involve purely factual contradictions (as to which we do 
not necessarily endorse these cases, but leave the law as 
we found it), we believe that a similar insistence upon 
explanation is warranted here, where the conflict 
involves a legal conclusion. 

 
A deponent who has had ample time to investigate the facts of a 

case cannot create new testimony at the close of discovery.  See 
Barwick, 736 F.2d at 960 (finding that the party knew a particular 
issue was important to his lawsuit and the late affidavit was “a 
vain effort to create an issue of fact”).  Haley’s only excuse for 
the contradictory affidavit is that it did not prepare its 
corporate designee to discuss its procedures regarding compliance 
with TILA.  Given that it was under a duty to produce knowledgeable 
people to discuss the identified areas, and given that only two 
types of TILA violations are in issue, admitting that it decided to 
bring an uninformed corporate designee is no excuse.  



 

Accordingly, because Haley has no acceptable reason for the 
contradictory testimony, the affidavit is of no significance.
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